



# **Addressing Cross-Cutting Themes in** the Use of Educational Technology and Digital Learning in Southeast Asia

Recommendations for policy, practice, and research

**Date** October 2025

**Andrew Swindell Authors** 

**Kate Radford** 

10.53832/edtechhub.1111 DOI







## **About this document**

## Recommended citation

Swindell, A. and Radford, K. (2025). Addressing Cross-Cutting Themes in the Use of Educational Technology and Digital Learning in Southeast Asia: Recommendations for policy, practice, and research. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1111. Available at https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/MJBBX3WS. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International.

#### Licence

Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

This licence means you are free to share and adapt for any purpose, even commercially, as long as you give appropriate credit, provide a link to the licence, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use. Please refer to the link for more details.



#### **Reviewers**

Haani Mazari, Jazzlyne Gunawan, Psyche Kennett (British Council), Debbie Wong (ACER), Emiljohn Sentillas (SEAMEO)

#### **About EdTech Hub**

EdTech Hub is a global research partnership. Our goal is to empower people by giving them the evidence they need to make decisions about technology in education. Our evidence library is a repository of our latest research, findings, and wider literature on EdTech. As a global partnership, we seek to make our evidence available and accessible to those who are looking for EdTech solutions worldwide.

EdTech Hub is supported by UKAid, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, World Bank, and UNICEF. The views in this document do not necessarily reflect the views of these organisations.

This publication has been produced by EdTech Hub as part of the ASEAN-UK Supporting the Advancement of Girls' Education (ASEAN-UK SAGE) programme. ASEAN-UK SAGE is an ASEAN cooperation programme funded by UK International Development from the UK Government. The programme aims to enhance foundational learning opportunities for all by breaking down barriers that hinder the educational achievements of girls and marginalised learners. The programme is in partnership with the Southeast Asian Ministers of Education Office, the British Council, the Australian Council for Educational Research, and EdTech Hub.

This material has been funded by UK International Development from the UK Government; however, the views expressed do not necessarily reflect the UK Government's official policies.

## **Contents**

List of figures and tables	5
List of abbreviations and acronyms	6
Executive summary	9
1. Introduction	11
1.1. Research purpose and questions	13
1.2. Method and structure of paper	14
2. Cross-cutting themes	16
2.1. Gender equity	17
2.2. Students with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)	24
2.3. School-related violence and bullying	31
2.4. Education in emergency settings and for climate resilience	38
2.5. Social and emotional learning (SEL) and mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS)	47
3. Conclusion	56
3.1. Multiple, flexible, and adaptable modalities	56
3.2. Teacher and caregiver support	58
3.3. Digital literacy and protection	59
3.4. Monitoring, evaluation, and evidence coordination	62
References	64

## Figures and tables

Table 1. Cross-cutting themes in the use of educational technology and digital learning in Southeast Asia	12
Table 2. Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for gender equity	19
Table 3. Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for learners with SEND	26
Table 4. Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for countering school-related violence and bullying	34
Table 5. Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for education in emergency settings and climate resilience	42
Table 6. Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for SEL and MHPSS in Southeast Asia	50
Table 7. School-based or learning-related SEL and MHPSS interventions	52
Table 8. Application of multiple, flexible, and adaptable modalities to cross-cutting themes in the use of EdTech in Southeast Asia	57
Table 9. Application of teacher and caregiver support to cross-cutting themes in the use of EdTech in Southeast Asia	59
Table 10. Application of digital literacy and protection to cross-cutting themes in EdTech in Southeast Asia	61
Table 11. Application of monitoring, evaluation, and evidence coordination to cross-cutting themes in EdTech in Southeast Asia	63

## **Abbreviations and acronyms**

**ASEAN** Association of Southeast Asian Nations

**CSE** Comprehensive sexuality education

**EdTech** Educational technology

**EiE** Education in Emergencies

ICT Information and communication technology

MHPSS Mental health and psychosocial support

**MoE** Ministry of Education

**OER** Open Educational Resource

**OOSCY** Out-of-school children and youth

**QIPEDC** Quality Improvement of Primary Education for Deaf

Children

**SEAMEO** Southeast Asia Ministers of Education Office

**SEND** Special educational needs and disabilities

**SEL** Social and emotional Learning

UNICEF-EAPRO UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Regional Office

## **Key definitions**

For this paper, we adopt the following key definitions:

**EdTech:** Educational technology. "Technologies, including hardware, software, and digital content, that are either designed or appropriated for educational purposes" (†Hennessy et al., 2021, p. 8). The term 'information and communication technology' (ICT) is also used to refer to hardware and software for learning, and how these are deployed for educational purposes is highlighted in each instance.

Southeast Asia: Countries that are member countries of the Southeast Asia Ministers of Education Organization (SEAMEO). These are Brunei Darussalam ('Brunei'), the Kingdom of Cambodia ('Cambodia'), the Republic of Indonesia ('Indonesia'), the Lao People's Democratic Republic ('Laos'), Malaysia, the Republic of the Philippines ('the Philippines'), the Republic of Singapore ('Singapore'), the Kingdom of Thailand ('Thailand'), Timor-Leste, the Union of Myanmar ('Myanmar'), and the Socialist Republic of Viet Nam ('Vietnam') (\*SEAMEO, no date).

**Out-of-school children and youth** (**OOSCY**): The study adopts the definition stated in the ASEAN Declaration on Strengthening Education for OOSCY (\*ASEAN Secretariat, 2016). Accordingly, OOSCY are recognised as children or young people in one or more of the following situations:

- Children and youth who do not have access to a school in their community;
- Children and youth who have not yet enrolled at a school, despite the availability of a school;
- Children and youth who have enrolled but do not attend school or are at risk of dropping out;
- Children and youth who drop out of the education system;
- School-based learners at risk of dropping out.

**Catch-up education:** Refers to targeted learning interventions designed to help students recover academic ground they have lost or missed. Its purpose is to bridge learning gaps so that learners reach age-appropriate or grade-level competencies after disruptions (e.g., pandemics, conflict, dropouts). Catch-up programmes typically condense or remediate curriculum content and often focus on foundational skills (literacy,

numeracy) to bring learners up to speed (\*ASEAN Secretariat, 2022). Common formats include:

- Remedial classes or tutoring: Extra lessons (after-school or during breaks) to revisit missed topics and reinforce understanding
- Accelerated learning programmes: Intensive courses that compress several months or years of schooling into a shorter period for overage or out-of-school youth.
- **Bridging programmes:** Transitional courses helping learners re-enter formal schooling by covering essential content or skills they missed.
- Extended learning time: Holiday 'boot camps', summer classes, or extended school days dedicated to reviewing and practising lagging competencies (†BIMP-EAGA, 2022).

#### Students with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND):

Students with SEND include children and youth who experience long-term physical, mental, intellectual, or sensory impairments, such as visual, hearing, cognitive, or psychosocial disabilities, that may hinder their full participation in education on an equal basis with others. These impairments can affect learning, communication, mobility, and social interaction, and often intersect with other factors like poverty, gender, and geography to exacerbate exclusion from quality education. Inclusive education systems must therefore address a wide spectrum of needs to ensure equitable learning outcomes for all students (†UNESCO & SEAMEO, 2023).

## **Executive summary**

Across Southeast Asia, digital learning and educational technology (EdTech) have expanded rapidly in response to both long-standing challenges and the disruptions of the Covid-19 pandemic. Countries across the region have made visible progress in integrating EdTech into national education strategies, increasing access to devices and connectivity, and piloting diverse delivery modalities such as radio, mobile, and online platforms. However, this expansion has not been equally experienced by all learners. Out-of-school children and youth (OOSCY), girls, learners with disabilities, and those in crisis-affected settings remain underserved regarding both access and inclusive design of such digital systems. Many EdTech interventions are not tailored to their needs, and fragmented data systems limit the ability to monitor inclusion or guide equitable investment.

This paper identifies and explores the following five cross-cutting themes that shape how EdTech can address exclusion and improve educational access and quality. Each theme reflects recurring challenges that affect both those children and youth already out of school and school-based learners at risk of dropping out. The paper highlights the need for more responsive, inclusive, and coordinated approaches to digital learning. While OOSCY are the primary focus of the analysis, in-school learners are also included, given their interaction with the following themes.

- Gender equity
- Special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)
- School-related violence and bullying
- Education in emergency and climate-resilient settings
- Social and emotional learning (SEL) and mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS).

Drawing on regional and global evidence, the paper outlines common barriers across themes. These include affordability and infrastructure gaps, low digital literacy among caregivers and educators, underdeveloped safety and protection systems, and the absence of flexible and localised learning models. At the same time, promising practices across the Southeast Asian region demonstrate that when EdTech is designed with equity in mind, it can enable flexible access, support differentiated learning, and extend essential services to the most marginalised.

#### **EdTech Hub**

The paper concludes with four strategic recommendations, with specific reference to regional policy frameworks and ongoing efforts. First, digital literacy and protection must be strengthened across learner, teacher, and caregiver groups. Second, national systems should prioritise human support by equipping educators and caregivers with training and resources. Third, governments and partners should invest in flexible, low-tech, and hybrid delivery models that are better suited to reach excluded populations. Fourth, stronger monitoring, evaluation, and evidence-sharing mechanisms are needed to inform adaptive policy and practice.

Overall, the report calls for a shift from fragmented efforts to system-wide planning that embeds EdTech and digital learning into broader education reform. Only through inclusive, context-aware strategies can digital learning support resilient, equitable education systems across Southeast Asia.

## 1. Introduction

Across Southeast Asia, the state of EdTech and digital learning reflects both significant progress and persistent challenges. Key regional successes include the widespread adoption of digital platforms during and after the Covid-19 pandemic, greater policy integration of EdTech into national education strategies, and the use of diverse modalities, such as radio, television, mobile applications, and digital learning environments, to expand access to learning opportunities (†Barnes et al., 2024). Connectivity and device ownership have improved in many areas, and there is growing interest in leveraging technology to support inclusive and flexible learning. However, challenges remain substantial. These include persistent digital divides between urban and rural areas, limited digital literacy among educators and learners, affordability issues, and weak infrastructure in underserved communities (†UNESCO & South-East Asian Ministers of Education Organization [SEAMEO], 2023; †UNICEF & UNESCO, 2021).

In 2024, as part of the ASEAN-UK SAGE programme, the SEAMEO Secretariat and EdTech Hub published *Out-of-School Children and Youth in Southeast Asia: A Rapid Scoping Study,* which found that a central concern continues to be the estimated 11.8 million out-of-school children and youth (OOSCY) in the region, whose exclusion is driven by intersecting financial, social, and systemic barriers (\*Afzal et al., 2024). While some EdTech initiatives have reached OOSCY through non-formal and low-tech channels, most are not tailored to their specific needs, and data systems to track and support this population remain fragmented. Ensuring that EdTech equitably benefits all learners will require stronger cross-sector coordination, targeted investment, and more rigorous, disaggregated evidence to guide policy and practice (\*Barnes et al., 2024; \*Barnes et al., 2025).

In response to a growing body of evidence surrounding EdTech and digital learning in Southeast Asia, and project meetings with the SEAMEO Secretariat and partners following the publication of Afzal et al.'s (2024) Rapid Scoping Study, the themes in Table 1 below were identified as having cross-cutting relevance for OOSCY specifically and education systems more broadly.

**Table 1.** Cross-cutting themes in the use of educational technology and digital learning in Southeast Asia

Theme	Description
Gender equity	Covers disparities in digital access, use, and engagement between girls and boys in education, examining barriers such as cultural norms, device access, safety concerns, and support systems that affect gender equity in EdTech and digital learning.
Students with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)	Addresses the inclusion of learners with disabilities in digital and online education, focusing on accessibility barriers, assistive technologies, inclusive pedagogies, infrastructure gaps, and the adaptation of content for diverse needs.
School-related violence and bullying	Examines the prevalence, forms, and impacts of physical, verbal, and online violence within school and digital learning environments, especially as they affect marginalised groups, and highlights gaps in data collection, prevention systems, and digital safety measures.
Education in emergency settings and for climate resilience	Explores how education systems in Southeast Asia are affected by crises such as conflict, displacement, pandemics, and climate disasters, and how digital learning and EdTech can support education continuity, resilience-building, and crisis preparedness.
Social and emotional learning and mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS)	Covers the integration of SEL competencies and psychosocial support into education systems, emphasising emotional well-being, resilience, mental health needs, and the role of digital and low-tech tools in delivering support to diverse learners.

#### 1.1. Research purpose and questions

The purpose of this paper is to bring together emerging evidence on the use of EdTech and digital learning across the cross-cutting themes to address critical challenges in education across the Southeast Asian region for children and youth who are already out of school, school-based learners at risk of dropping out, and other in-school settings. Its goal is to support policymakers, researchers, and practitioners by presenting actionable strategies and highlighting promising practices that leverage technology to improve learning outcomes and equity. Building on previous efforts to compile evidence in the region (†Barnes et al., 2024; †Barnes et al., 2025; Mitchell et al., 2025; Zhao et al., 2024), this report does not aim to be a definitive or comprehensive review of all available research on the identified cross-cutting themes. Rather, it offers an illustrative overview of the themes while offering actionable strategies and recommendations for the Southeast Asian region, designed to support education professionals in understanding how technology is being used to address these cross-cutting themes in education programmes.

Drawing on regional and selected global examples, with a focus on lowand middle-income countries (LMICs), the paper explores how technology is being integrated into education programmes, what approaches show the most promise, and how policy environments can better enable effective and inclusive implementation. It ultimately aims to inform future decision-making and strengthen the role of EdTech in addressing inclusion, equity, and cross-cutting issues in education.

The paper is guided by the following questions:

- How are EdTech tools and approaches currently being used to address the cross-cutting themes for OOSCY, learners at risk of dropout, and school-based education programmes in Southeast Asia?
- Which EdTech interventions and policy initiatives have shown promise in improving outcomes related to these themes, and what are the barriers preventing progress?
- What are actionable and strategic recommendations for policymakers, practitioners, and researchers to address these cross-cutting themes?

#### 1.2. Method and structure of paper

Given the previous Rapid Evidence Reviews (RER) on related topics (†Barnes et al., 2024; †Barnes et al., 2025; †Mitchell et al., 2025; †Zhao et al., 2024), a targeted search was conducted rather than a comprehensive literature review. Searches of available academic, grey, and practitioner-focused literature identifying key concepts of interest; conducting keyword searches using platforms such as Google Scholar and Google; and reviewing reference lists from key documents commonly cited by practitioners and researchers involved in intervention design, implementation, and evaluation. The following inclusion criteria were used to select documents that are included in the desk review:

- Programmes, interventions, policies, and resources selected for their relevance to OOSCY and at least one of the identified cross-cutting themes (gender, disability inclusion, school-related violence, education in emergencies, or social and emotional learning and mental health and psychosocial support). Some materials are included solely for their thematic relevance when findings are applicable but not specific to OOSCY contexts.
- International and regional reports from intergovernmental bodies, development/education organisations, and research consortia that provide insights or guidance on integrating cross-cutting themes into education and EdTech practice.
- Policy and strategy documents at national, regional, or institutional levels that outline approaches to addressing one or more cross-cutting themes within education systems.
- Research and evaluation studies that present evidence, lessons, and effective practices related to cross-cutting themes in education technology and digital learning.
- **Programmatic and project documentation,** such as implementation reviews, workshop reports, and programme descriptions
- **Geographic focus** includes national examples from Southeast Asia, regional analyses from ASEAN or SEAMEO, and global resources relevant to low- and middle-income countries (LMICs).
- **Timing focus** is on publications from 2020 onwards to capture recent developments and lessons from the Covid-19 period and

beyond, with earlier resources considered when they provide significant contextual or historical relevance.

Section 2 examines each cross-cutting theme in depth, drawing on relevant literature and illustrative case studies. Each theme includes: (1) a brief overview, (2) an analysis of key barriers, (3) a summary of promising policy developments and initiatives, and (4) key insights with actionable recommendations for policy, practice, and research. The report concludes in Section 3 with a synthesis of recommendations across all themes, highlighting common areas for improvement and opportunities for system-wide impact.

## 2. Cross-cutting themes

As education systems in Southeast Asia work to increase access to quality education while also becoming more inclusive and resilient, technology offers a powerful set of digital tools to support learners who are often left behind. Much attention is placed on the role of EdTech in delivering and facilitating instructional content; however, its potential also lies in how it can be harnessed to strengthen education systems as a whole (†UNESCO & SEAMEO, 2023). When thoughtfully implemented, technology can help governments and educators identify OOSCY and learners at risk of dropping out, tailor learning resources for students with disabilities, monitor safety and well-being in school environments, and coordinate rapid responses during emergencies (†Barnes et al., 2024; †Mitchell et al., 2024; Zhao et al., 2024). These uses extend far beyond online lessons to include data management, planning, teacher and caregiver support, and learner engagement across diverse modalities.

The justification for integrating EdTech into policy and practice is rooted in its ability to address long-standing gaps in access, equity, and quality (†Afzal et al., 2024). Marginalised learners often face overlapping barriers such as poverty, displacement, gender norms, or lack of identification within formal systems (†Chrisani et al., 2025). Digital tools, if designed with inclusion in mind, can reduce these barriers by offering flexible pathways into education, supporting the collection of disaggregated data to inform policy, and enabling outreach where traditional systems fall short. Despite the exhibited benefits, caution is also warranted. EdTech and digital learning more broadly, like all education programmes, tools, and approaches, can aggravate inequalities and must be implemented with care. If equity is not prioritised, technology can reinforce existing disparities and exclude the very learners it seeks to support (†Mitchell et al., 2025; †UNICEF EAPRO, 2024).

Section 2.1. introduces how EdTech and digital learning interact with the five cross-cutting themes: gender equity, special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), school related violence and bullying, education in emergency and climate-affected settings, and social and emotional learning (SEL) and mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS). Each theme presents both opportunities and challenges, illustrating how EdTech and digital learning can support targeted interventions as well as broader reforms to build more inclusive and responsive education systems across Southeast Asia.

#### 2.1. Gender equity

Significant progress has been made towards achieving gender parity in education in Southeast Asia. Countries like Vietnam, Thailand, and the Philippines, for example, have attained near-equal enrolment rates between boys and girls at both primary and secondary levels (†World Bank, 2025). However, this parity in enrolment does not fully translate into equity in access to and engagement with digital learning, where disparities persist, particularly among girls from rural, ethnic minority, or low-income backgrounds (†Dabrowski et al., 2024; †UNESCO & SEAMEO, 2023).

The rise of digital learning is transforming education across the Southeast Asian region, especially in the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic. School closures impacted an estimated 140 million children in the region, accelerating government investment in educational technology. By 2021, there were over 100 EdTech providers active across Southeast Asia, and many countries had incorporated EdTech into national education plans (\*Mitchell et al., 2025). While this rapid expansion opened new opportunities, it also introduced new gendered challenges. Girls generally have less access to devices and the internet than boys, and when they do have access, they often use technology less intensively and in more restricted ways. According to a UNICEF study, only 27% of adolescent girls in Southeast Asia use the internet on mobile phones compared to 46% of boys (\*UNICEF EAPRO, 2023).

Cultural norms and practical constraints intersect to create this digital gender divide. In many households, if only one device is available, priority is often given to male family members. Girls also face heavier domestic workloads and caregiving duties, which reduces the time they can dedicate to digital learning. In countries where adult literacy for women is lower than for men, such as Vietnam and Cambodia, mothers may be less able to support their daughters' use of technology for learning (†UNICEF EAPRO, 2023). The incorporation of open educational practices with learning about information and communication technology (ICT), however, has been shown to help increase functional literacy for girls and women from ethnic-minorities in places like Thailand (†Intaratat, 2021).

Girls who are out of school face even greater barriers. OOSCY and learners at risk of dropping out, especially girls, are less likely to have access to digital devices or safe learning environments. Many are engaged in work or have family responsibilities that make formal schooling difficult. In Cambodia and Lao PDR, for example, OOSCY girls often fall through the cracks due to intersecting disadvantages, poverty, gender norms, rural

isolation, and limited infrastructure (†Dabrowski et al., 2024; †UNESCO & SEAMEO, 2023).

# 2.1.1. Barriers to gender equity across digital learning and EdTech

Although gender parity in enrolment has improved, girls still face significant challenges in digital learning, especially those from rural and disadvantaged backgrounds. Cultural expectations, infrastructure limitations, and safety concerns often restrict their ability to access and meaningfully use educational technology. The paragraphs below explore key barriers affecting gender equity in EdTech.

#### Social and cultural norms

Deep-rooted gender norms limit girls' time and freedom to participate in EdTech. In some countries, girls perform up to 90% of household chores, leaving little time for study (†Thinley et al., 2024). Gender stereotypes also discourage girls from exploring science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) and related fields (†Mitchell et al., 2025). Gender is often not a consideration for many educators when teaching digital literacy (i.e., teaching is largely gender blind), while lack of progression to more advanced digital competencies has also been found to be particularly acute among girls in the region (†UNICEF EAPRO, 2023).

#### Access and infrastructure

Cost, connectivity, and device availability pose serious barriers. Families may have one smartphone shared among siblings, with boys prioritised for access. In Laos, women and girls have slightly lower mobile and internet access than men (\*Afzal et al., 2024). More broadly, women in low- and middle-income countries are 12% less likely to own a mobile phone and 19% less likely to use mobile internet than men (\*Jeffrie, 2023). Rural schools often lack ICT facilities, making it harder for girls in remote areas to access digital content. For OOSCY and learners at risk of dropping out, the challenge is compounded by their distance from formal schooling networks, lack of registered status, language barriers related to content instruction, and higher likelihood of economic vulnerability.

#### Caregivers, teachers, and digital literacy

Caregivers and teachers often act as gatekeepers who shape girls' digital access. Where adult digital literacy is low, girls often lack support to engage with EdTech. Some caregivers fear that internet use is unsafe for girls and restrict access, while teachers may unconsciously give boys more

opportunities to interact with technology (†Mitchell et al., 2025). Evidence also shows that female teachers in Cambodia, for example, scored lower on technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK) than their male counterparts (†Phal et al., 2022). Research also shows that in Southeast Asia, adults often assume girls are less interested in or capable with digital tools, reinforcing exclusion, while outside of school, girls may face scepticism about the value or safety of using technology, and inside classrooms, teachers may channel tech opportunities to boys due to unconscious bias (†The Sasakawa Peace Foundation & Dalberg Global Development Advisors, 2017).

#### Safety and security

Safety concerns, both physical and online, are a major factor. "Adolescent girls in Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philippines and Thailand reported feeling less safe online than boys did" (\*UNICEF EAPRO, 2023, p. 25). Online, girls face risks of harassment or cyberbullying, which can discourage use of digital platforms. OOSCY girls are particularly affected, as their learning often occurs in unsupervised or informal settings, where protections may be weaker (\*UNICEF EAPRO, 2023).

#### 2.1.2. Promising policy developments and initiatives

Innovative programmes and developments in Southeast Asia are increasing girls' access to digital learning through mobile tools, community hubs, and gender-responsive policies. These efforts highlight how locally grounded approaches can reduce digital exclusion and promote equity. Table 2 presents promising initiatives that advance gender equity, with a focus on digital learning and EdTech.

Table 2. Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for gender equity

Initiative	Country(s)	Description
Flexible and accessible technologies	Cambodia and Myanmar	Mobile phones, radio, and TV are more widely available than computers. In Cambodia, Women's Radio FM 102 broadcasts educational content for girls, improving awareness and shifting attitudes. These tools are especially valuable for OOSCY, who often rely on mobile phones or shared radios for any access to educational content (*Mitchell et al., 2025). The Girls through Mobile Technology project in

		Myanmar also "helped marginalised girls in rural schools develop English language skills and life skills as a means of empowerment and a pathway to increased secondary school retention" (†UNESCO & SEAMEO, 2023, p. 22).
Community learning hubs	Philippines and Thailand	Initiatives like the Philippines' eSkwela and Thailand's community learning centres offer safe, local, and flexible options to learn digital skills and pursue formal equivalency credentials. These centres often target OOSCY and offer non-formal education options in local languages and accessible formats (†Barnes et al., 2024).
Philippines' Alternative Learning System (ALS)	Philippines	Integrates digital and mobile tools to reach adolescent girls in remote and indigenous communities who are no longer enrolled in school (†Dabrowski et al., 2024).
Future4Girls	Southeast Asia	A regional advocacy platform that champions girls' rights to quality education free from bias, discrimination, and violence. It engages Southeast Asian stakeholders in policy dialogue and programme design for equitable digital access (†Raisha et al., no date).
Gender supportive policies	Cambodia and Lao PDR	Some governments are addressing these gaps. Cambodia's Gender Mainstreaming Strategic Plan (2021–2025) outlines steps to increase girls' participation and challenge discriminatory attitudes (†Thinley et al., 2024), while Lao PDR has also included girls' education in recent policy reforms (†Dabrowski et al., 2024).
GENIA (Gender in Education Network in Asia-Pacific)	Asia-Pacific	A UNESCO-facilitated network of gender focal points in ministries of education, aimed at mainstreaming gender equality in

		national policies and education systems (in-person and digital). This toolkit includes a practical guide to support gender-responsive planning, teaching, and monitoring in education systems (†UNESCO, 2019).
OER training and repositories	Thailand	The OBEC Content Centre, developed by Thailand's Office of the Basic Education Commission (OBEC), provides Open Educational Resources (OERs) across eight core basic education subjects. By offering free, verified, and accessible digital learning materials through an integrated platform, OBEC helps expand educational opportunities for all learners, including girls, by reducing barriers to quality learning resources (†Polprasert & Anutariya, 2024).
Bett Asia EdTech 10	Asia-Pacific	The Bett Asia EdTech 10 list recognises women in the Asia-Pacific region who are transforming education through technology, celebrating their contributions and providing a platform to inspire and empower others (†Bett Asia, 2025).

### 2.1.3. Key insights and recommendations

#### 1. Engage caregivers and teachers as allies

Girls' access to and meaningful use of EdTech is heavily influenced by the adults around them. Successful initiatives across Southeast Asia highlight the importance of supportive teachers and caregivers.



**Policy:** Policymakers can include gender-specific training in national teacher development frameworks and promote caregiver engagement in EdTech programmes. National digital learning plans may embed caregiver outreach and require districts to report annually on gender-disaggregated training outcomes.



**Practice:** Schools can host awareness sessions where caregivers serve as peer mentors, while teachers use tools to monitor equitable digital participation. Some districts might pilot mentoring programmes where experienced caregivers coach others to support girls' digital engagement.



**Research:** Researchers can study how shifting caregiver and teacher attitudes influence girls' EdTech use over time. Future studies may track how inclusive training and engagement campaigns affect girls' participation in learning and graduation rates.

#### 2. Leverage accessible technologies to bridge the gender divide

Tools like mobile phones, SMS, radio, and WhatsApp groups can be more likely to reach girls. These low-tech, high-reach solutions are especially effective for OOSCY, learners at risk of dropping out, and girls in rural or poor households.



**Policy:** Promote mobile-first EdTech platforms through policy that prioritises public–private partnerships and integrates accessible tools, like radio/TV education, into national strategic education plans.



**Practice:** Schools can establish and promote SMS-based homework hotlines and WhatsApp study groups to better reach girls. Districts can partner with local radio broadcasts to reach girls without internet access.



**Research:** Evaluate which modalities are most effective for reaching marginalised girls, especially OOSCY and learners at risk of dropping out. Future studies might explore how different low-tech delivery models, such as combining mobile messaging with interactive voice response or offline app content, impact girls' learning outcomes.

#### 3. Promote flexible and safe learning opportunities

Girls benefit most from learning options that are adaptable to their schedules and responsibilities. Ensuring both digital and physical safety is also critical.



**Policy**: Governments can ensure EdTech policies enable safe, flexible access to digital tools and learning spaces. Regulations might support mobile access, flexible scheduling, and privacy protections for girls.



**Practice**: Community-based organisations and schools can coordinate flexible learning programmes adapted to girls' needs. Flexible timetables may reflect caregiving responsibilities and allow access for girls facing scheduling restrictions.



**Research**: Researchers can examine how flexibility in learning schedules and safe digital environments impact girls' retention. Studies may explore how household dynamics or safety concerns affect participation rates.

#### 4. Adopt gender-responsive monitoring and evaluation

Gender equity must be embedded in digital strategies through goals, accountability mechanisms, and monitoring systems.



**Policy**: Education ministries can mandate gender-disaggregated data collection in all digital programmes. National audits and monitoring and evaluation (M&E) frameworks can assess gaps in access, participation, and learning outcomes for girls.



**Practice**: Schools and support organisations can use real-time dashboards and localised tools to monitor digital engagement by gender. Inclusive indicators can go beyond enrolment to reflect usage, interaction, and learner experience.



**Research**: Analyse how gender disparities evolve over time in digital access and use. Insights can guide better targeting and refinement of gender-responsive EdTech interventions.

#### 5. Focus on building girls' digital literacies and confidence

Access alone is insufficient; girls need skills and self-belief to fully benefit from EdTech.



**Policy**: Governments can put more emphasis on autonomous learning and self-access study skills that build learner confidence, motivation, and independence from the teacher while supporting pen and paper and ICT skills, and face-to-face, remote and blended learning contexts.



**Practice**: Schools and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) can run ICT camps, digital storytelling workshops, or mentorship clubs for girls. Featuring female role models through campaigns may also increase girls' confidence in tech use.



**Research**: Research can evaluate how confidence-building initiatives, such as girls-only clubs or peer-led mentoring, affect digital engagement. Studies might also explore long-term impacts on learning outcomes and career pathways.

# 2.2. Students with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)

In recent years, the Southeast Asian region has made growing efforts to harness digital learning and EdTech to support inclusive education, particularly for students with SEND. These efforts are critical given the educational marginalisation of children with cognitive, learning, sensory, and physical impairments (†Mitchell et al., 2024). Despite the ratification of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities across ASEAN member states, learners with disabilities still face unequal access to quality education. For example, children with disabilities in Cambodia are eight times less likely to be in school than their peers without disabilities (†UNESCO & SEAMEO, 2023).

Educational technologies, ranging from low-tech tools like pencil grips to high-tech solutions such as screen readers and speech-to-text software, hold promise for addressing these disparities. They enable differentiated instruction, promote communication, and can support social and emotional learning and engagement (\*Mitchell et al., 2024). In Malaysia, Indonesia, and the Philippines, for example, pilot programmes using tablets and localised apps have demonstrated improvements in engagement and comprehension among students with cognitive disabilities and hearing impairments (\*Lynch et al., 2024; Zhao et al., 2024).

Emerging evidence also shows that inclusive EdTech practices not only support students with disabilities but also benefit entire classrooms through universal design principles. UNESCO's regional reviews highlight how inclusive policies, especially in Vietnam and Thailand, are leveraging technology to close accessibility gaps (†UNESCO & SEAMEO, 2023).

Meanwhile, the Covid-19 pandemic revealed systemic inequities which further intensified the need for disability-sensitive digital infrastructure across the region (\*Cashmore & Crosta, 2022). Many OOSCY and learners at risk of dropping out are children with disabilities, displaced youth, or those in remote areas. Broadcast technologies such as radio and television, as well as mobile-friendly digital platforms, have shown potential to provide basic education for OOSCY, particularly during school closures or emergencies, though research remains limited on SEND in particular (\*Afzal et al., 2024; \*Barnes et al., 2025). While these innovations represent

significant progress, they are far from being universally accessible. A range of systemic and structural barriers continues to inhibit the full inclusion of learners with disabilities in both mainstream and alternative learning systems.

#### 2.2.1. Barriers for learners with disabilities

Learners with special needs and disabilities encounter multiple forms of exclusion from digital education. Limited accessibility, inadequate teacher preparation, and low representation in data systems all contribute to persistent inequities, especially in low-resource or rural settings. The paragraphs below outline the major challenges faced by learners with SEND, with a focus on digital learning environments.

#### Access and accessibility gaps

Many rural or low-income communities in Southeast Asia lack the necessary internet access, electricity, or devices required for digital learning, further disadvantaging learners with disabilities (Zhao et al., 2024). Even when learners with SEND are able to access devices and the internet, inclusive and accessible user interfaces remain a central issue for meaningful use (†Afzal et al., 2024).

#### Limited data and visibility

Official statistics either underreport or often don't report the number of learners with disabilities, especially those with cognitive or invisible impairments, due to stigma or inadequate diagnostic tools. There is also limited evidence on the effectiveness and cost implications for SEND-focused interventions (\*Mitchell et al., 2024).

#### Insufficient training and support for teachers and caregivers

Teacher and caregiver training and support are critical for fostering inclusive education in the Southeast Asian region. Many teachers and caregivers lack the digital literacy and inclusive education skills needed to effectively support learners with disabilities (\*UNESCO & SEAMEO, 2023). Initiatives like Akadasia aim to upskill teachers in the Philippines, Indonesia, India, and Vietnam in 21st-century competencies, although specific training for disability inclusion remains a gap. Strengthening teacher and caregiver capacity is essential to fully leverage technology's potential in creating accessible and equitable learning environments (\*Cashmore & Crosta, 2022).

#### **Cultural and social barriers**

Social stigma and low awareness about disability rights among families and communities can limit uptake of inclusive EdTech or discourage school attendance altogether (\*United Nations Timor-Leste, 2018).

#### Lack of localised content

Lack of localised and personalised initiatives limits the effectiveness of support for learners. Many EdTech interventions are not designed to meet the diverse, intersecting needs of individuals, especially those with multiple disabilities. Without tailored approaches, students often face difficulties engaging with technology. This points to the need for context-specific solutions and stronger teacher support for personalised learning (Zhao et al., 2024).

#### 2.2.2. Promising policy developments and initiatives

A range of initiatives across Southeast Asia are using accessible technologies and inclusive practices to support learners with disabilities. These efforts emphasise universal design, flexible delivery, and the importance of teacher and caregiver support. Table 3 outlines key initiatives that are improving digital access for learners with SEND.

Table 3. Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for learners with SEND

Initiative	Country(s)	Description
Digital accessibility in higher education	Indonesia	An inclusive e-module in Indonesia improved academic outcomes and learning engagement for classes with deaf students, demonstrating the potential of accessible design in higher education settings. The initiative highlights how inclusive digital content can close learning gaps for students with sensory disabilities in mainstream institutions (*Musayaroh et al., 2023).
OER policy and practice	Malaysia	Inclusive Open Educational Resources (iOERs) support learners with disabilities by ensuring educational materials are accessible and adaptable to diverse needs. They include resources in formats like Braille, audio, and adjustable text settings, while following

		accessibility design principles to aid navigation and comprehension. Malaysia is advancing this approach through a national-level iOER policy for higher education institutions, promoting the structured development and use of accessible learning environments. By fostering flexibility and stakeholder collaboration, iOERs help create more equitable and inclusive educational opportunities (†Moon & Park, 2021; †Othman et al., 2023).
Eskola Ba Uma ('School Goes Home') initiative	Timor- Leste	During the Covid-19 pandemic, the Ministry of Education, with support from UNICEF and other partners, launched this national programme to ensure learning continuity for marginalised children. It provided learners with disabilities access to tactile and audio learning materials, including content via radio, hard-copy, and audio-only formats, designed specifically to be inclusive of visual impairments and accessible to households without internet or television. This approach directly addressed barriers for both in-school and out-of-school learners with disabilities in rural and underserved areas (†Honda et al., 2024).
Quality Improvement of Primary Education for Deaf Children (QIPEDC)	Vietnam	The World Bank-supported QIPEDC programme in Vietnam provided sign-language-based education, teacher training, and learning materials to enhance early grade education for deaf children across four provinces. It responded to the exclusion of deaf children from formal schooling and supported their reintegration into inclusive classrooms (*Nguyen, 2023).
Mobile learning for cognitive disabilities	Indonesia	Rumah Autis Depok in Indonesia provides specialised education, therapy, vocational training, and employment support for

through Rumah Autis Depok		individuals with autism to promote well-being and community inclusion. It also offers services and resources to families and leads awareness campaigns to foster greater societal acceptance. Although limited, the programme incorporated technology like WhatsApp and Zoom during the Covid-19 pandemic for daily monitoring (*Mitchell et al., 2024).
Inclusive TVET policy	Cambodia	Cambodia's revised Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) policy identifies persons with disabilities as a priority group and outlines strategies for inclusive access to vocational education through physical and digital means. This approach helps reduce long-term exclusion from the workforce and supports transition for older OOSCY with disabilities into employment pathways (†Jolita, 2024).
BacaBicara lipreading app	Indonesia	BacaBicara is a mobile application that helps deaf learners and those with hearing impairments improve their lipreading and speech comprehension through real-time facial expression tracking and practice modules. The tool supports language and communication development, which are foundational barriers for school inclusion among learners with hearing impairments (†Muljono et al., 2019).
Teletherapy for learners with disabilities	Tunisia	In Tunisia, Sghartoon is a digital teletherapy platform that helps children with learning disabilities, such as dyslexia, by using educational games. It enables therapists to manage children's therapeutic paths with digital game libraries, patient management, and calendar tools (†Adeniran et al., 2023).

#### 2.2.3. Key insights and recommendations

#### 1. Embed disability-inclusive design from the start

EdTech platforms are not always designed with universal accessibility in mind, limiting their usability for learners with disabilities. Inclusive design, such as screen reader compatibility, captioning, keyboard navigation, and localised sign or Braille support, must be considered at every stage of EdTech development.



**Policy**: National EdTech policies can require platforms to meet accessibility standards like WCAG 2.1 (†W3C, 2025) and prioritise design elements such as captioning, screen readers, and localised assistive tools for diverse impairments.



**Practice**: Developers and implementers can co-design platforms with learners with SEND and test usability with inclusive education experts. Pilot programmes may assess real-world accessibility across classroom and home settings.



**Research**: Compare country-specific, field-tested solutions regarding font size, background colour on screen, and printed materials with their use in Southeast Asian countries to ascertain cultural versus medical solutions for effective SEND pedagogy.

#### 2. Strengthen data and diagnostic systems to make learners visible

Learners with disabilities, especially those with cognitive or psychosocial impairments, are often underreported or misclassified. Without reliable data, learners are excluded from planning, resource allocation, and EdTech interventions.



**Policy**: Ministries can enhance monitoring and evaluation data collection systems to disaggregate data by disability type. Diagnostic frameworks may be integrated into enrolment, assessments, and EdTech reporting tools.



**Practice:** Schools and support organisations can train teachers and staff in using inclusive diagnostic tools and integrate special needs and disability markers into education data management platforms.



**Research:** Analyse the gap between government policies and low school uptake of SEND interventions in terms of economics, school and teacher capacity, and social attitudes.

## 3. Support teachers and caregivers as enablers of inclusive digital learning

Teachers and caregivers often lack the training, confidence, or tools to adapt digital content for learners with disabilities. Without targeted support, even the most accessible EdTech remains underused or misapplied.



**Policy:** Include inclusive digital pedagogy in all pre-service and in-service training frameworks. Ministries can also recognise and fund caregiver training as part of inclusive EdTech rollouts.



**Practice**: Educators and NGOs can create, or adapt from OERs, how-to guides, or video tutorials showing how to adapt EdTech tools for various impairments. Peer educator networks may help scale local solutions.



**Research:** Investigate the impact of different teacher and caregiver training programmes on the digital engagement and achievement of learners with disabilities. Case studies may track knowledge retention and improvements in learner outcomes.

#### 4. Leverage low-tech and hybrid models to reach the most excluded

Learners with disabilities are often disproportionately represented among OOSCY, particularly in rural or underserved areas. High-tech solutions may not be viable for these learners, making low-tech and hybrid models crucial for inclusive outreach.



**Policy:** Encourage integration of inclusive content into national radio, TV, and mobile-based education initiatives. Ensure non-formal and equivalency programmes are disability-inclusive.



**Practice**: Implementers can adapt tools like WhatsApp or audiobooks for learners with cognitive or visual disabilities. Community hubs can offer blended support combining paper, audio, and human facilitation.



**Research:** Explore how hybrid delivery (e.g., combining home visits, radio, and/or basic mobile tools) can support learning continuity for learners with disabilities who are not in formal school systems.

#### 2.3. School-related violence and bullying

School-related violence refers to physical, psychological, and sexual violence that occurs in or around schools, including bullying, cyberbullying, physical fights, and harmful exclusion. It is widespread globally and can be perpetrated by peers, teachers, or others in the school community. These experiences severely impact learners' physical health, mental well-being, academic success, and school attendance (†Kim, 2024). Nearly one in three students aged 13 to 15 worldwide reports being bullied, with similar or higher rates found across Southeast Asia (†UNESCO, 2025).

In Indonesia, the 2022 national assessment found that 36% of students were at risk of experiencing bullying, while 35% faced risks of sexual violence and 27% of physical punishment, highlighting widespread exposure to violence within the school system (†Hardianto, 2024). These risks are further exacerbated in low-income areas, among girls, and for learners with disabilities. A recent study in Malaysia, for example, found that 13.7% of adolescents experienced cyberbullying, and that victimisation was a significant risk factor for suicidal ideation (†Mohd Fadhli et al., 2022). Meanwhile, evidence shows that bullying in the Southeast Asian region more broadly was found as a reason for children to miss or drop out of school altogether (†Afzal et al., 2024).

Beyond individual harm, school-related violence and bullying create unsafe, exclusionary learning environments. Marginalised learners, especially girls, ethnic minorities, LGBTQ+ students, and children with disabilities, are more likely to be targeted and less likely to report incidents, especially for sexual and gender-based violence incidents (\*Beadle & YuJeong, 2024). In many contexts, cultural norms reinforce silence around abuse and normalise punitive discipline. A recent analysis of child well-being in East Asia emphasised that school environments where children can meaningfully participate in decision-making show lower levels of bullying and violence (\*Shamrova et al., 2025).

Global efforts to end school-related violence and bullying have shown some progress, but major challenges remain, particularly in Southeast Asian countries where research is limited. Although EdTech and digital tools offer potential support, cyberbullying is increasing and digital solutions are often underutilised, especially outside urban areas. Strong political leadership, reliable data, and whole-school community approaches are identified as essential to effectively address school-related violence and bullying (†UNESCO, 2019). In many Southeast Asian countries, there is a lack of tailored national strategies regarding digital safeguards,

safeguarding training especially for parents and teachers, netiquette and 'bystander training' for students, or effective reporting and referral mechanisms for online abuse (\*Sittichai & Smith, 2015).

# 2.3.1. Barriers to preventing school-related violence and bullying

Violence in schools, including bullying and cyberbullying, remains widespread across Southeast Asia. Many students, particularly from vulnerable groups, do not report these incidents due to stigma, unclear policies, and a lack of safe, confidential reporting tools. The paragraphs below identify specific barriers to preventing school-related violence and digital bullying.

#### Policy gaps in Southeast Asia

Cyber safety policy in the Southeast Asian region faces critical challenges due to fragmented legal frameworks and inconsistent enforcement across member states. Many countries lack clear definitions of key terms like child pornography or grooming, while some do not criminalise possession of exploitative materials at all. Only a minority have established cyberbullying laws or enforce obligations on internet service providers to report abuse. These gaps leave children vulnerable to exploitation and enable offenders to exploit jurisdictional loopholes across borders (\*Rahamathulla, 2021).

#### Limited data and monitoring systems

A key barrier to addressing school-related violence is the absence of real-time, disaggregated data on bullying and other forms of violence, alongside the challenge of ensuring confidentiality and protection for those who report. While systematic data collection through education management and information systems is essential to understand prevalence and patterns, such efforts must balance the need for disaggregated, fit-for-purpose data with the 'Do No Harm' principle. Effective reporting mechanisms must therefore be safe, confidential, and trusted, allowing students, especially girls, LGBTQ+ learners, and learners with disabilities, to share experiences without fear of exposure or retaliation. Systems like Jordan's Ma'an online survey, which enables regular reporting and rapid response while safeguarding student privacy, illustrate how confidentiality can coexist with robust, actionable data collection (\*UNESCO, 2024).

#### Marginalisation of vulnerable groups

Children most affected by school-related violence, such as girls, learners with disabilities, LGBTQ+ youth, and ethnic minorities, are also those least likely to report incidents or receive support. Studies indicate that these learners face intersectional discrimination that increases their risk of victimisation and isolation (†Timur, 2022). For example, in Malaysia, 13.7% of adolescents reported experiencing cyberbullying, which was closely associated with suicidal ideation, particularly among girls and LGBTQ+ youth (†Mohd Fadhli et al., 2022).

#### Digital spaces as new arenas for bullying

With the growing use of digital learning and social media by young people, particularly after the Covid-19 pandemic, cyberbullying has emerged as a major concern. Learners now face risks not only within classrooms but also through messaging platforms, digital learning systems, and social media. In Indonesia, nearly 36% of students were identified as being at risk of bullying through the 2022 national assessment, with online harassment contributing to those risks (†Hardianto, 2024). However, EdTech platforms and national digital education strategies have not consistently embedded child protection or digital safety measures to mitigate these harms (†UNICEF, 2023).

#### Lack of digital literacy and protection policies

Teachers, caregivers, and learners often lack the digital literacy skills needed to identify, report, or manage cyberbullying effectively. In some cases, caregivers are unaware of the nature of online risks or lack the tools to supervise digital learning (†UNICEF EAPRO, 2024). National policies on digital protection are also inconsistent, with few countries implementing clear, enforceable standards on safe digital learning environments (†UNESCO & SEAMEO, 2023).

#### 2.3.2. Promising policy developments and initiatives

Several countries in the Southeast Asian region are implementing digital and school-based solutions to reduce violence and bullying. From mobile apps to whole-school approaches, these interventions aim to create safer learning environments and promote student well-being. Table 4 below highlights promising programmes that address school-related violence and cyberbullying.

**Table 4.** Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for countering school-related violence and bullying

Initiative	Country(s)	Description
ASEAN Declarations on bullying (2021) and violence (2016)	ASEAN Member States	Member states adopted the ASEAN Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Children (2016) (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2019) and later the ASEAN Declaration on the Elimination of Bullying of Children (2021), reinforcing a regional commitment to inclusive, gender-responsive child protection systems. The 2021 bullying declaration highlights the need to prevent both online and offline bullying through digital technologies, awareness-raising, and empowering children as agents of change. Both declarations call on countries to strengthen legal, social, and education systems to ensure safe reporting mechanisms and comprehensive support for affected learners (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2021b).
ASEAN ICT Forum	ASEAN Member States	The ASEAN ICT Forum on Online Child Protection, led by Indonesia and Thailand, advances regional efforts to safeguard children online. Bringing together over 200 stakeholders, it supports the ASEAN Commission on the Promotion and the Protection of the Rights of Women and Children (ACWC) Work Plan and ASEAN'S Protection of Children from All Forms of Online Exploitation and Abuse (COEA) commitments by addressing Al risks, digital rights, and strategies to strengthen child protection across the region (†ASEAN Commission on the Promotion and Protection of the Rights of Women and Children, 2024).
Cyberbullying prevention in Vietnamese	Vietnam	Vietnam has taken steps to integrate cyber safety into school programmes. Recent cross-sectional research identifies emerging

state schools		prevention strategies, including curriculum reform, awareness campaigns, and online behaviour education, often delivered via digital platforms or blended formats (îMai et al., 2023).
Teacher training on school violence and online safety	Asia- Pacific	UN Women and UNESCO have called for improved teacher capacity to address violence in schools. In the Asia-Pacific region, ongoing professional development includes training in online safety, cyberbullying prevention, and child-centred pedagogy, particularly important as digital platforms become more central to education delivery (†UN Women, 2023).
Whole-school bullying prevention	Indonesia	In Indonesia, integrating moral and civic education into the curriculum has served as a foundation for bullying prevention in high schools. A whole-school approach, including teacher training, student participation, and supportive digital content, has been shown to reduce school-related violence and improve the learning environment (†Noboru et al., 2021).
eSmart Schools Program	Indonesia and the Philippines	eSmart is a behaviour-change framework that includes a digital curriculum on cyber safety, respectful relationships, and bullying prevention. Schools can implement the programme using online tools, training modules, and progress tracking systems. The initiative is an excellent example of an OER that is free and is licensed for use specifically in the Philippines and Indonesia (†Government of Australia, 2025).
Cyber Teens mobile app for youth protection	Bangladesh	Implemented in Bangladesh, the <i>Cyber Teens</i> mobile app offers a transferable model for Southeast Asian contexts. Created by youth activist Sadat Rahman, the app allows teens

	to report cyberbullying and receive support confidentially. It demonstrates how mobile-first EdTech can be designed for youth-friendly reporting and psychosocial help (†van Tiel, 2020).

#### 2.3.3. Key insights and recommendations

# 1. Integrate digital safety and anti-bullying into national EdTech and education policies

Digital learning expands access to education but also introduces new arenas for violence, particularly cyberbullying. Policy frameworks must embed child protection, digital ethics, and anti-bullying protocols into national education technology strategies.



**Policy**: Update EdTech, ICT, and school safety policies to include digital safeguarding, cyberbullying prevention, and reporting mechanisms. Align national strategies with the ASEAN Declaration on the Elimination of Bullying of Children (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2021b) and the ASEAN Regional Plan of Action on the Elimination of Violence Against Children (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2019).



**Practice**: Schools and platform providers can create student behaviour codes, escalation protocols, and training for digital moderators. Administrators may use reporting data to adjust prevention strategies.



**Research**: Evaluate the implementation of digital safety protocols in real-world settings and analyse their effectiveness in reducing incidents of cyberbullying and student disengagement.

# 2. Strengthen teachers' capacity to recognise and address violence in digital and physical spaces

Teachers are often the first line of defence against school-related violence, but may lack the training or tools to address bullying, especially online.



**Policy**: Teacher certification requirements can include modules on violence prevention, cyberbullying identification and mediation, trauma-informed pedagogy, and safe digital facilitation, reinforced through pre- and in-service training.



**Practice**: Provide in-service training on identifying, reporting, and responding to cyberbullying and offline abuse. Equip educators with age-appropriate digital literacy and anti-bullying resources.



**Research**: Explore how teacher attitudes, digital fluency, and preparedness correlate with school-related violence detection and prevention outcomes. Explore caregiver attitudes to, and awareness of, the perpetrators and victims/survivors of online gender based violence and bullying.

### 3. Leverage EdTech to create safe, confidential reporting and support channels for students

Technology can lower barriers to reporting violence, especially for students who fear retaliation or stigma.



**Policy**: Ministries can support local and school-level actors in implementing and monitoring the use of confidential digital reporting tools and peer-support platforms that provide insight into how safe and accessible safeguarding and reporting mechanisms support students at risk of bullying or harassment.



**Practice**: Schools can implement or adapt mobile- or web-based tools like *Cyber Teens* or SMS-based reporting systems in schools. Promote peer support networks via digital platforms.



**Research**: Study usage patterns, trust factors, and visibility of tech-based reporting mechanisms among different student groups, particularly girls, LGBTQ+ youth, and children with disabilities.

# 4. Promote whole-school and community-based approaches to violence prevention using digital tools

Tackling school-related violence requires ecosystem-wide change. Whole-school approaches that engage students, staff, families, and local communities can be supported and scaled through technology.



**Policy**: Facilitate nationwide adoption of whole-school violence prevention programmes by facilitating cross-governmental support that includes a digital learning component and community outreach.



**Practice**: Community radio, mobile messaging apps, and virtual school-level town halls can be used to engage families in promoting school safety and respectful online conduct.



**Research**: Investigate how community engagement via digital tools (or lack thereof) contributes to safer school environments and improved learner well-being.

# 5. Promote whole-school and community-based approaches to violence prevention using digital tools

Comprehensive sexuality education (CSE) provides an important platform for teaching students not only about health and relationships but also about digital ethics, consent, and online safety. In a context where children increasingly interact in digital spaces, CSE must evolve to equip them with the knowledge, attitudes, and practical skills to navigate online risks and build respectful relationships both offline and online.



**Policy**: Update CSE and digital literacy frameworks to include consent, healthy relationships, and online safety. Address cultural sensitivities, ensure confidential reporting, and align with ASEAN and UNESCO child protection standards.



**Practice**: Train teachers and principals to identify and respond to online abuse. Deliver learner-centred, age-appropriate lessons on consent, privacy, and digital ethics. Engage parents through digital-safety workshops.



**Research**: Evaluate how integrating online safety into CSE affects learner knowledge, reporting behaviour, and resilience. Identify effective, culturally sensitive strategies for teaching digital well-being and preventing online exploitation.

# 2.4. Education in emergency settings and for climate resilience

Globally, an estimated 234 million school-aged children are affected by crisis contexts, with 85 million out of school (†Education Cannot Wait, 2025). Across Southeast Asia, education systems are increasingly disrupted by a wide range of emergencies, including armed conflict, forced displacement, pandemics, and climate-related disasters such as flooding, extreme heat, and wildfires. Many of the crisis-affected children face chronic educational exclusion due to displacement, marginalisation, and the cumulative effects of instability In countries like Myanmar and the Philippines, over 12 million children from early childhood education to end of primary are affected by crises like natural hazards and political upheaval which have compounded these challenges, making education in emergencies (EiE) an urgent priority (†Education Cannot Wait, 2025). Across Southeast Asia, nearly 12

million children are out of school due to crises and other persistent challenges, while migrant and displaced people often lack meaningful access to quality education (especially in their own language) in national school systems within host countries (†Afzal et al., 2024).

To meet these growing challenges, the \*ASEAN Secretariat (2021; 2022) calls for stakeholders in the region to shift from short-term, reactive responses to building resilient education systems that address increasingly protracted crises caused by climate change and conflict. The ASEAN Secretariat recommends that systems are designed to absorb shocks, maintain education continuity, emphasise catch-up education, and support long-term recovery. The concept of resilience is especially critical in current and future climate-affected contexts, where schools and communities face recurring and intensifying environmental threats. As the UK's Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO) notes

"Education systems must urgently adapt to extreme weather events and environmental changes. If they do not, education goals will fall further out of reach, and future generations will be less able to survive in our changing world. Without harnessing the power of education, we are unlikely to solve the climate crisis." (\*FCDO, 2022).

UNICEF similarly identifies the need to create resilient education systems and provides a framework to define what resilience in education looks like in the climate era. A climate-resilient education system proactively integrates climate mitigation and adaptation across planning, financing, curriculum, teacher development, partnerships, student participation, and data systems (\*Kagawa, 2022). This systems-level perspective emphasises both preparedness and transformation, ensuring that children continue learning through disruptions while equipping them with the skills needed to navigate future challenges.

Digital learning and EdTech can play a pivotal role in building this kind of resilience. These tools have helped sustain education during the Covid-19 pandemic, expanded access in displacement settings, and enabled flexible, multimodal approaches to reach marginalised learners, before, during, and after emergencies. Yet, as the evidence shows, digital learning must be inclusive, context-aware, and part of broader efforts to strengthen education systems; otherwise, it risks amplifying existing inequalities (†Barnes & Katrin, 2025; †Barnes et al., 2025).

### 2.4.1. Barriers to building resilient education systems

Learners affected by crises often face exclusion from education due to weak policy integration, limited infrastructure, and a lack of legal or administrative recognition for migrant and displaced students. Inadequate teacher training and limited language support further hinder their participation. The following paragraphs highlight the core barriers to ensuring education continuity in emergency contexts, with a focus on digital learning and EdTech.

# Integrating migrant and displaced children into national education systems

In Indonesia, refugee learners faced systemic exclusion from remote learning during the pandemic due to gaps in national policy. Although a 2022 policy revision allowed schools to accept financial support for refugee education and removed detention centre permission requirements, refugee children remained ineligible for government-provided internet assistance because they were not included in the national Basic Education Data System (\*Prabaningtyas et al., 2023). This lack of digital support infrastructure underscored Indonesia's absence of a comprehensive legal framework to uphold refugee education rights and made digital learning inaccessible for many displaced students (\*Barnes & Katrin, 2025).

#### Weak policy and planning integration

Many Southeast Asian countries lack integrated, risk-informed education sector plans, limiting their ability to prepare for and respond to future disruptions. Few have updated emergency frameworks or incorporated Covid-19 lessons into planning. Financial constraints persist, with underinvestment in pre-primary education, teacher development, and digital infrastructure (\*ASEAN Secretariat, 2022). Funding is often inequitable, and needs-based allocation models are rarely used. Vulnerable groups, such as children with disabilities and those in remote areas, remain underserved due to fragmented policies and weak cross-sector coordination. These limitations undermine system resilience and the goal of inclusive, sustained learning (\*ASEAN Secretariat, 2022).

#### Fragile infrastructure and displacement dynamics

In remote or disaster-affected areas, digital learning efforts are constrained by unreliable power, poor internet connectivity, and limited device availability. These issues are intensified by forced displacement, where families may relocate without access to safe or stable learning environments (†Barnes et al., 2025). Even when platforms are designed for low-tech environments, logistical barriers persist, like classrooms that are not designed for extreme heat in places that have increasing average temperatures (†Kagawa, 2022).

#### Digital and pedagogical readiness gaps for emergency online teaching

Teachers, school leaders, and caregivers in emergency settings often lack the training, infrastructure, and pedagogical strategies needed to effectively integrate digital tools in disrupted contexts. Research shows that many educators globally, and in LMICs in particular, were unprepared for the digital pivot during the Covid-19 pandemic and remain ill-equipped to use technology in crisis-resilient ways. Without sustained investment in capacity building, digital remote learning cannot become a core pillar of educational resilience (\*Crompton et al., 2021).

#### Standalone EdTech interventions

During the Covid-19 pandemic, the Bangkok Asylum Seeker and Refugee Assistance Network attempted to support refugee learners in Thailand by sharing links to free online education platforms like BBC Bitesize and Khan Academy. However, in the absence of subject-specific teaching support, students struggled to understand the content and lacked motivation to continue their learning (\*Akhtar & Keeney, 2024). This highlights the limitations of EdTech when deployed without pedagogical scaffolding or personalised support, especially for vulnerable learners navigating unfamiliar curricula and digital systems.

# Limited localisation, language support, and cultural relevance in migration and displacement contexts

Emergency responses often deploy digital content that is generic or externally developed. This limits linguistic and cultural relevance, particularly for migrant and displaced learners, and leads to poor engagement and learning outcomes (†Adeniran et al., 2023; †Unwin et al., 2021). Moreover, Localising content for refugee learners has been found to be challenging due to limited resources, weak infrastructure, and reliance on external EdTech that often lacks cultural and linguistic relevance (†Barnes et al., 2024; †Peguero, 2024). Ethnographic research in Thailand, for example, found that despite official inclusion policies, migrant learners faced poor academic performance due to gaps in Thai language proficiency and a lack of institutional language support, reinforcing the need for linguistically responsive digital learning strategies during emergencies (†Rueangdej & Nomnian, 2021).

### 2.4.2. Promising policy developments and initiatives

In response to these challenges, governments and other stakeholders are adopting flexible, low-tech, and locally adapted solutions to plan for and maintain learning during crises. Several initiatives now embed digital tools into broader emergency and climate resilience strategies. Table 5 showcases promising approaches that support education access and resilience in emergency contexts.

**Table 5.** Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for education in emergency settings and climate resilience

Initiative	Country(s)	Description
Remote learning via low-tech and multimodal channels	Cambodia and Sri Lanka	Cambodia's Basic Education Equivalency Programme (BEEP) offers flexible, modular, and partially online learning that enables rural and OOSCY to earn recognised certifications and re-enter the education system or workforce (†Thinley et al., 2024). In Sri Lanka, the Nenasa programme delivers curriculum-based educational content through television to reach students in rural and underserved areas. It helps reduce the urban–rural education gap by providing accessible, low-tech learning support for marginalised children without internet access (†Development Asia, 2024). Research has also shown that more students can be reached when multiple modalities are employed, such as "SMS-based learning, telephone trees, radio broadcasts, and paper-based learning" (†Barnes et al., 2025, p. 27).
Integrating digital learning in climate-resilient infrastructure	The Philippines	The *Institute for Development Impact (2025) promotes building climate-adaptable schools along with the integration of digital learning infrastructure with climate-adaptive design. It encourages schools to plan for energy-efficient ICT use, flexible learning spaces, and localised content delivery that can withstand future climate shocks and help monitor for disasters like floods and tsunamis. The initiative emphasises school-level planning, capacity building, and the use of low-power

		technologies to ensure learning continuity in disaster-prone areas. The institute also notes that "in the Philippines, schools in coastal areas are being designed with elevated structures and flood barriers to protect against rising sea levels and typhoons" (*Institute for Development Impact, 2025, para 4).
ASEAN Safe Schools Initiative (ASSI) and the Disaster Risk Management Information System (DRRMIS)	Cambodia, Vietnam, the Philippines, and Indonesia	Plan International's (2024) Safe Schools Global Programme reached nearly one million students across 33 countries by integrating climate-smart, child-centred disaster risk reduction into school systems. The programme empowered students to participate in risk mapping, evacuation planning, and school safety assessments. In Southeast Asia, it partnered with ministries in Cambodia, Vietnam, the Philippines, and others to implement the Comprehensive School Safety Framework. In Indonesia, it also supported the development of a Disaster Risk Management Information System (DRRMIS) to monitor school vulnerability and disaster impact (†Plan International, 2024).
Learning recovery programmes	Thailand, Indonesia, and the Philippines	The *ASEAN Secretariat (2022) outlines multiple examples of learning recovery programmes as examples of resilient education systems. In the Philippines, the Sa Aklat Sisikat reading programme supported accelerated learning recovery through a 31-day structured intervention with teacher training and student reading materials to address literacy gaps. Indonesia's Rural and Remote Education Initiative improved access and outcomes in underserved areas by combining structured pedagogy, community engagement, and teacher support. Thailand's Education

		Recovery Partnership, led by the Equitable Education Fund and UNICEF, targeted learning loss related to the Covid-19 pandemic and strengthened system responsiveness in disadvantaged provinces. The Zamboanga del Norte Youth Development Alliance in the Philippines enhanced education resilience by linking out-of-school youth to education, employment, and training through a multi-stakeholder referral system. These initiatives show how targeted, inclusive strategies can drive learning recovery and build stronger, more adaptive education systems following missed schooling (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2022).
Mobile technology in national emergency preparedness	Pakistan	Pakistan has prioritised mobile technology as part of its national emergency preparedness strategy in education. Mobile phones were widely used to support learning during the 2022 floods, with WhatsApp and basic SMS enabling content delivery even in low-connectivity areas. These tools were preferred toTV or printed content, which were often inaccessible during emergencies. This shift was supported by government policy frameworks and teacher training programmes aimed at using mobile technology in all phases of emergency response (†Mazari et al., 2022).
Social media for distance education	Colombia	During the Covid-19 pandemic, Colombia's Institute of Family Welfare supported 1.7 million disadvantaged children using WhatsApp and Facebook to deliver caregiver-led learning activities, showcasing how existing platforms can be adapted for learning continuity during emergencies (*UNESCO, 2023b).

### 2.4.3. Key insights and recommendations

# 1. Embed digital learning in national education, emergency, and climate resilience plans

While digital tools supported learning continuity during the Covid-19 pandemic, many EdTech strategies remain reactive and disconnected from formal emergency preparedness or climate adaptation plans.



**Policy**: Ministries can institutionalise digital learning in emergency preparedness and recovery frameworks, ensuring that continuity and preparation strategies include digital infrastructure, offline tools, and staff training.



**Practice:** Train district education officers and school leaders to use digital platforms and mobile technology for emergency communication, curriculum delivery, and continuity planning.



**Research:** Compare how Southeast Asian countries are incorporating EdTech into national disaster risk management, EiE, and climate resilience frameworks, and assess their readiness for implementation during future crises. Evaluate effectiveness after new emergencies.

# 2. Prioritise low-tech, offline, and mobile delivery for OOSCY, learners at risk of dropping out, and hard-to-reach learners

Digital equity gaps are most pronounced during emergencies, especially in rural, climate-affected, or displacement settings where internet and electricity access are limited.



**Policy:** Require all national EdTech strategies to include provision for offline, radio, and mobile delivery channels to ensure inclusion in emergencies.



**Practice:** Scale multimodal learning initiatives such as WhatsApp-based instruction, solar-charged tablets, and hybrid content packs before crises arise, to reach disconnected learners during floods, typhoons, or conflict.



**Research**: Studies can compare modality effectiveness across emergency-affected learners and explore cost-benefit ratios for low-tech learning delivery models.

# 3. Build capacity for teachers, school leaders, and caregivers to use EdTech in crisis settings

Teachers, caregivers, and learners often lack the skills, tools, or support to use digital platforms effectively during emergencies, reducing the impact of EdTech investments.



**Policy**: Crisis-resilient teaching modules can be embedded in national teacher training. Governments may incentivise innovation in low-resource EdTech delivery for crisis contexts.



**Practice**: Teachers and caregivers can receive toolkits and scenario-based training on how to adapt content, engage students remotely, and provide psychosocial support during emergencies. Digital modalities for these include WhatsApp and Facebook teachers' groups and online communities of practice for resource sharing, continuous professional development, webinars and tutorials about how to use EdTech tools for teaching, learning, and assessing online learning.



**Research**: Evaluate how training improves educator and caregiver confidence and its link to learning continuity during environmental or conflict-related disruption.

# 4. Prioritise education in national disaster risk reduction and climate adaptation plans

Education is often overlooked in national emergency and climate response frameworks, despite schools' central role in protecting children and supporting communities during crises.



**Policy:** Ensure education is formally included in all national disaster risk reduction plans, emergency response, and climate adaptation plans alongside other relief efforts like health and food security, with dedicated budget lines for preparedness and recovery.



**Practice:** Equip schools to serve as local hubs for emergency communication, evacuation coordination, and psychosocial support. Engage teachers, students, and school management committees in community outreach before, during, and after crises.



**Research:** Document how school-centred approaches have contributed to community resilience in disaster-affected areas, and evaluate the effectiveness of education system inclusion in national disaster risk management and climate planning.

# 2.5. Social and emotional learning (SEL) and mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS)

Social and emotional learning (SEL) and mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS) have emerged as essential pillars of equitable, inclusive, and quality education systems. SEL emerged in 1994 when the Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning (CASEL) was formed and identified self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision-making as the pillars through which learners acquire and apply the knowledge, attitudes, and skills necessary to understand and manage emotions, build supportive relationships, and make responsible decisions (†Borowski, 2019). SEL fosters core competencies such as emotional regulation, empathy, and resilience, which are foundational for learning, personal development, and social cohesion. MHPSS encompasses a broader spectrum of interventions, from basic psychosocial support to specialised mental health care and treatment, that safeguard learners' well-being and ensure they can thrive emotionally and academically, particularly in contexts of adversity or crisis (\*UNICEF, 2021).

Across Southeast Asia, the relevance and adoption of SEL and MHPSS in education systems have increased, especially in the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic, which disrupted education systems and exacerbated underlying inequalities. Learners reported increased levels of stress, anxiety, social isolation, and reduced motivation, underscoring the urgent need to address social and emotional well-being as a core education priority (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2024; †UNICEF & UNESCO, 2021). These effects were even more severe among vulnerable groups such as OOSCY, learners at risk of dropping out, girls, and learners with disabilities. SEL and MHPSS are particularly important for these populations, who often face intersectional barriers to participation, achievement, and reintegration into learning environments (Mitchell et al., 2024; †Nietschke et al., 2024).

Digital technology and online learning have become key enablers for delivering SEL and MHPSS in the Southeast Asian region and globally. During and after the pandemic in particular, online support, SEL guidance, and low-tech platforms emerged as practical solutions for extending psychosocial support to remote, underserved, and crisis-affected learners

(†Barnes et al., 2024; †Ching et al., 2025). Research suggests that technology-supported SEL interventions can lead to significant improvements in learners' emotional health, academic performance, and social inclusion, particularly for learners with cognitive disabilities and girls in low-resource settings (†Raftree, 2023; †UNICEF, 2022; †Yap et al., 2022). Despite positive developments in the implementation of SEL, limited evidence on specific interventions and other barriers to online and digital solutions remains.

#### 2.5.1. Barriers to SEL and MHPSS in education

Despite growing awareness, mental health and social-emotional learning are still under-prioritised in many education systems. Stigma, limited teacher training, and fragmented implementation prevent consistent support for student well-being across digital and classroom settings. The paragraphs below outline the barriers that limit effective SEL and MHPSS integration in the Southeast Asian region, with a focus on digital learning and EdTech.

#### Stigma and low awareness

Mental health issues among children and youth in the Southeast Asian region often remain shrouded in stigma or are simply overlooked in policy and school practice. In many communities, low levels of awareness of mental health result in stigma, reduced help-seeking behaviours, and lower engagement with health services in online or in-person settings (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2024). Schools globally also traditionally prioritise academic content, leaving soft skills and emotional well-being as a secondary concern (†UNICEF, 2022). This lack of awareness and open dialogue means that even when digital (or offline) psychosocial resources are available, learners and educators may hesitate to use them due to stigma and reduced help-seeking behaviours (†UNICEF, 2022) Furthermore, because psychosocial well-being was not historically part of education metrics, governments have only recently begun to prioritise SEL/MHPSS in plans, often as a response to Covid-19 rather than a preemptive strategy (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2024; †UNICEF, 2022).

#### **SEL curriculum integration**

Integrating SEL into curricula across parts of Southeast Asia has faced challenges. In Vietnam, for example, SEL is positioned as an extracurricular activity rather than fully embedded into academic subjects, and teachers report difficulties aligning SEL with the current curriculum structure (†Amihan, 2021).

#### Shortage of trained personnel and resources

The Covid-19 pandemic exposed significant staff shortages and training gaps in delivering SEL and MHPSS across schools in Southeast Asian countries. Many teachers and caregivers were not equipped to support student well-being, and mental health services for both students and staff were frequently disrupted. Expanding teacher and caregiver training in emotional support, resilience-building, and safeguarding is now seen as essential for strengthening education systems in the region (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2024; †UNICEF & UNESCO, 2021). Evidence from the Philippines similarly suggests that teachers specifically find online SEL useful, but need more support and training for the digital modality (†Ching et al., 2025).

# Limited intervention evidence within low- and middle-income countries (LMICs)

There is limited evidence supporting the effectiveness of school-based mental health and psychosocial interventions for children in humanitarian contexts within LMICs (†Lasater et al., 2022). The development of scalable, nonspecialist psychological interventions for children aged 5–12 in LMICs, for example, is hindered by insufficient research and evaluation (†Brown et al., 2024). Meanwhile, SEL research has been concentrated in North America, with 70% of intervention studies conducted in the United States and 95% of early education SEL studies originating from North America. This concentration limits the availability of models that are specifically designed for different Southeast Asian educational contexts, where academic traditions and cultural expectations may differ. As a result, efforts to integrate SEL more systematically into curricula are still evolving (†Ozdemir et al., 2025).

### 2.5.2. Promising policy developments and initiatives

New models for delivering SEL and psychosocial support are emerging across the region. These include digital platforms, caregiver training, and curriculum-aligned tools that help students build resilience and emotional well-being in both formal and informal settings. Table 6 introduces key initiatives that advance SEL and MHPSS in education in Southeast Asia, with a focus on digital learning and EdTech.

**Table 6.** Promising interventions, initiatives, and resources for SEL and MHPSS in Southeast Asia

Initiative Country(s) Description

My Village TV	Lao PDR	Launched in 2012, My Village TV aimed to enhance early learning for marginalised children in Laos, emphasising social and emotional development alongside cognitive and language skills. Designed for children under six from diverse ethnic backgrounds, the programme supported school readiness by fostering inclusive, holistic growth. Accessible via TV, DVDs, and online platforms, it helped improve caregiver practices and child engagement. During school closures, it continued to provide critical emotional support and learning continuity for vulnerable families (†Barnes et al., 2024).
ASEAN regional guidance on the social service workforce in education	ASEAN Member States	At the policy level, ASEAN has made a landmark commitment to student well-being through a new regional guidance document. Agreed in 2024 with UNICEF's support, this guidance calls on member states to strengthen the role of social workers, counsellors, and school-based support teams in the education sector. It provides a roadmap for governments to build a "caring and safe" school environment by addressing underlying psychosocial factors that affect attendance and learning (*ASEAN Secretariat, 2024).
Filipino SEL competency framework	The Philippines	Developed by the Department of Education (DepEd) and ChildFund Philippines, this framework contextualises SEL around Filipino values such as pakikipagkapwa-tao (empathy and connection). It has been integrated into basic education and alternative learning curricula, accompanied by teacher training and digital content (†Asia Education Review, 2024).
"Feeling Good" sessions	Indonesia	UNESCO Jakarta and DepEd's Alternative Learning System delivered interactive psychosocial sessions on Facebook Live to support out-of-school youth. These sessions addressed anxiety, coping skills, and emotional

		resilience, and reached tens of thousands of learners during the height of Covid-19 pandemic-related disruptions (†UNESCO, 2023a)
UNESCO Bangkok SEL training modules	Thailand	UNESCO Bangkok designed an OER of SEL training materials for early childhood educators across Southeast Asia, including guidance for integrating SEL into daily classroom practice and adapting to different learner needs, such as those with disabilities. It includes online and print curriculum materials. (†Diwan, 2022).
Online SEL in Vietnam	Vietnam	A pilot programme in Vietnam successfully developed a SEL curriculum for high school students, blending online and offline activities to align with the demands of Education 4.0, which emphasises digital skills, adaptability, and emotional intelligence. The initiative led to significant gains across key SEL competencies, with students showing measurable improvements in self-awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision-making. By integrating digital tools, social media training, and family engagement, the project offers a strong model for advancing SEL in Asia's rapidly evolving educational landscape (†Nguyen et al., 2024).
Building resilience through digital SEL integration in Asia	The Philippines	The integration of SEL teaching practices and e-services at the University of Perpetual Help System-DALTA (UPHSD) in the Philippines successfully supported student resilience during the shift to online learning. Teachers effectively implemented SEL strategies through strong social and instructional interactions, while the institution adapted its educational services to the new normal. These efforts demonstrate how embedding SEL into online platforms can maintain educational quality and foster student well-being during times of crisis (†Amihan, 2021).

†UNICEF (2022) identified the following digital and online tools for supporting MHPSS and SEL globally. These are displayed in Table 7 with details adapted from the UNICEF (2022) report.

**Table 7.** School-based or learning-related SEL and MHPSS interventions (Adapted from†UNICEF, 2022, p. 29)<sup>1</sup>

Intervention Name	Setting	Delivery Modality	Key Features
Be Strong Online	School	Online/Digital	Peer-led digital modules on cyberbullying, SEL, and mental health
Better Learning Program	School; Home	Phone; Radio; Online/Digital	SEL and trauma recovery include educator support and psychosocial strategies
Girl Rising	School	TV / Video/ Film	SEL and gender equity through multimedia storytelling and discussion
Inside Out—We All Belong	School	TV/ Video; Paper-based	Animated film with classroom guides to promote empathy and inclusion
La Aldea	School; Home	Paper-based; Online/Digital; Radio	SEL and citizenship through fables, integrated into the school curriculum
МееТоо	School; Home	Online/Digital	Anonymous, moderated peer-support app for the emotional well-being of young people
MindUP 2.0	School	TV/ Video; Online/Digital	Mindfulness and SEL curriculum with virtual training for educators
Pure Edge	School; Home	Online/Digital	SEL, mindfulness, and educator professional development resources

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Detailed information on programmes listed in Table 7 can be found in †UNICEF (2022).

School Day Wellbeing	School	Online/Digital	Student well-being monitoring system with real-time feedback for schools
SEL Kernels	Early Learning; School	Mixed Mode: Paper-based; TV/ Video	Simple, evidence-based SEL activities embedded in daily classroom routines
SESAME Workshop	Early Learning; Home	TV/ Video; Online/Digital	Multi-platform SEL content promoting resilience, coping, and inclusion
7 Cups: Anxiety & Stress Chat	School; Home	Phone; Online/Digital	Anonymous online chat for mental health support from peers and professionals

#### 2.5.3. Key insights and recommendations

### 1. Integrate SEL and MHPSS into digital and blended learning environments

SEL and MHPSS can be embedded into online, digital, and face-to-face learning systems, not treated as optional add-ons. Building emotional well-being into virtual classrooms, mobile platforms, and blended programmes strengthens resilience and supports vulnerable learners engaging in learning through EdTech.



**Policy**: Education ministries can require national EdTech plans to include provisions for SEL and MHPSS tools, ensuring learners' emotional well-being is addressed alongside academic performance.



**Practice**: Schools can deploy digital journaling, mindfulness, or empathy-building activities via platforms. Educators can also use check-in tools to monitor emotional well-being.



**Research**: Studies can examine the effect of digital SEL and MHPSS tools on students' stress levels, classroom engagement, and emotional regulation in different learning settings.

#### 2. Build the capacity of teachers and caregivers for SEL and MHPSS

Teachers and caregivers need targeted support to deliver SEL and MHPSS through digital and remote learning. Without adequate preparation, online environments risk missing critical emotional support for learners.



**Policy**: National training standards can require pre-service and in-service SEL modules and offer professional development for MHPSS, especially in high-need or emergency-prone regions.



**Practice:** Teachers should be trained to recognise signs of social and emotional distress in their students, and be trained in appropriate measures to support children in need. For example, provide teachers and caregivers with training, practical toolkits, role-play activities, and culturally adapted resources to guide discussions on emotional health, integrating SEL into remote, online, and blended learning contexts.



**Research**: Research can assess how trained adults support learners' psychosocial well-being. Longitudinal data may show links between adult capacity and learner retention or confidence.

### 3. Leverage low-tech and mobile platforms to expand SEL and MHPSS access

Digital and mobile modalities are critical to reaching out-of-school learners, rural communities, and crisis-affected populations with SEL and psychosocial support. Using simple, accessible technologies can extend impact where internet access is limited.



**Policy**: Governments can promote the development and national adoption of mobile-first, offline-capable SEL and MHPSS tools to reach OOSCY communities. These can be embedded in emergency response and education continuity frameworks to ensure equitable access.



**Practice**: Educators and implementers can design hybrid SEL programmes using SMS messages, community radio, mobile apps, and printed activities. These formats help reach learners in remote areas or during school closures.



**Research**: Compare engagement, accessibility, and emotional outcomes across different delivery modes. Studies might assess how low-tech and mobile platforms serve hard-to-reach learners in Southeast Asian contexts.

# 4. Address stigma and normalise mental health support in digital spaces

Stigma around mental health can limit learners' willingness to engage with online or digital MHPSS resources. Building safe, inclusive digital environments is essential for promoting emotional well-being.



**Policy**: National EdTech strategies can include anti-stigma messaging and mental health awareness campaigns. These should promote open dialogue, normalise help-seeking, and align with the digital habits and platforms of and for young people.



**Practice**: Digital learning platforms can embed interactive tools, peer-sharing features, and anonymous reflection spaces that promote emotional expression and reduce stigma. School-led campaigns may highlight stories of resilience and support.



**Research**: Research can explore how digital interventions influence attitudes toward mental health and help-seeking. Evaluate shifts in stigma, engagement, attitudes, and emotional openness among different learner groups.

### 3. Conclusion

The conclusions in this section build directly on the key insights and recommendations presented in the previous sections, synthesising the findings across all five cross-cutting themes. The sections below consolidate recommendations into four overarching areas. Section 3.1. covers multiple and adaptable delivery modalities, Section 3.2 teacher and caregiver support, Section 3.3. digital literacy and protection, and Section 3.4, monitoring, evaluation, and evidence coordination. Each area reflects patterns observed across the themes, such as persistent access inequities, the critical role of human support systems, and the need for more inclusive and context-sensitive EdTech planning. Rather than addressing each theme in isolation, this conclusion highlights common structural gaps and opportunities for system-wide improvement.

Looking ahead, the findings underscore the importance of integrating EdTech strategies into broader education system reforms, especially in contexts of crisis, exclusion, and inequality. Implementation at scale will require stronger cross-sectoral coordination, updating Southeast Asian regional policy and guiding declarations, flexible funding models, and ongoing investment in research that is locally grounded and inclusive of marginalised voices, including OOSCY, learners at risk of dropping out, migrants, and displaced persons. Ultimately, advancing equity in digital learning will depend not only on technological innovation but also on building resilient ecosystems that centre learners' diverse needs, lived experiences, and evolving contexts. This conclusion offers a roadmap to guide those efforts, within Southeast Asia specifically, and across other regions navigating similar challenges.

### 3.1. Multiple, flexible, and adaptable modalities

To support inclusive and resilient education across Southeast Asia, it is essential to move beyond high-tech-first approaches and prioritise multiple, flexible, and adaptable modalities. Learners across the region, particularly those in rural communities, from ethnic-minority groups, or in crisis-affected areas, often lack consistent access to the internet or digital devices. Over-reliance on online platforms risks excluding these learners unless complemented by traditional media and low-tech delivery channels such as mobile phones, television, radio, SMS, and printable content.

Flexibility in delivery is equally critical for meeting the diverse needs of learners, including those with disabilities or varying learning styles.

Multimodal approaches support differentiated instruction and teaching to multiple intelligences. They also allow asynchronous engagement, helping learners balance education with domestic work, caregiving responsibilities, or economic pressures. For girls and OOSCY in particular, flexibility and accessibility are essential to sustained participation in education. While several regional frameworks, such as the ASEAN Declaration on Strengthening Education for out-of-school Children and Youth (OOSCY) (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2016) and Community Guidelines for ASEAN Countries for EiE (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2022), advocate for some of these approaches, addressing these issues specifically and following through on implementation across Southeast Asia will be crucial in the years to come.

Accounting for language diversity is also fundamental. Many children across Southeast Asia grow up speaking local or minority languages that differ from the national language of instruction. Without translated or culturally adapted materials, they are likely to disengage. This is where well-designed OERs, delivered through appropriate media, can help bridge linguistic, cultural, and infrastructural divides.

Designing EdTech with flexible modalities from the outset is a prerequisite for inclusion, not an add-on. Table 8 below summarises evidence on how this principle supports the cross-cutting themes.

**Table 8.** Application of multiple, flexible, and adaptable modalities to cross-cutting themes in the use of EdTech in Southeast Asia

Theme	Application for Flexible and Adaptable Modalities
Gender equity	Mobile-first tools, radio, and SMS reach girls who are unable to go to school in person or with limited device access or connectivity. Flexible formats allow engagement outside rigid school hours and help accommodate caregiving duties.
Students with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)	Multimodal formats (e.g., audio, visual, tactile) enhance accessibility. TV, radio, and hybrid content support learners with sensory, cognitive, or physical impairments.
School-related violence and bullying	Print and offline materials offer safer, more private options for SEL and violence prevention. Mobile tools enable confidential reporting and support.

Education in emergency settings and for climate resilience	Radio, mobile, and print enable continuity during disasters or displacement. TV and offline kits support modular, location-independent learning.
Social and emotional learning (SEL) and mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS)	Low-tech storytelling, community radio, and mobile apps support emotional well-being. Printable SEL guides equip caregivers and educators to deliver consistent support.

### 3.2. Teacher and caregiver support

Across all five cross-cutting themes explored in this paper, teachers and caregivers emerge as central actors in the success of EdTech and digital learning interventions. They serve as facilitators, motivators, protectors, and emotional anchors, particularly for learners facing exclusion due to gender, disability, displacement, or psychosocial distress. However, as education systems evolve to incorporate technology, more is frequently asked of teachers and caregivers, often without the necessary structural support.

While ongoing professional development and digital training are important, they must be accompanied by broader forms of institutional and policy-level support. This includes reducing administrative burdens, providing well-designed tools and materials, offering emotional and peer support, and ensuring that digital education strategies are realistic and responsive to local contexts. Governments and school systems must view teachers and caregivers not as implementation bottlenecks but as essential partners who require both investment and protection.

Supporting them effectively means enabling, not overloading them. This can be achieved by embedding inclusive pedagogical resources into national curricula, offering flexible modalities, and creating feedback loops that recognise their contributions. Moreover, recent *Regional Guidance for ASEAN Member States on Strengthening the Role of Social Workers and the Wider Social Service Workforce in the Education Sector (\*ASEAN Secretariat, 2024)* offers regional policy and implementation recommendations for helping reduce the burden on teachers and caregivers by utilising social workers to address issues like student well-being and psychosocial support specifically.

Table 9 below summarises how teacher and caregiver support contribute to each cross-cutting theme.

**Table 9.** Application of teacher and caregiver support to cross-cutting themes in the use of EdTech in Southeast Asia

Theme	Application for Teacher and Caregiver Support
Gender equity	Teachers and caregivers influence girls' digital access, use, and confidence. Their engagement helps challenge gender norms, promote safety, and support equitable participation in EdTech.
Students with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)	Inclusive teaching strategies and caregiver involvement are vital to adapt EdTech tools, provide emotional support, and ensure accessible learning across settings.
School-related violence and bullying	Teachers need training to recognise and respond to violence, including cyberbullying. Caregivers play a key role in ensuring their children's online safety through personal data protection locks, parental controls for harmful websites and social media groups, positive online behaviour, and safe spaces for children to report abuse and be heard.
Education in emergency settings and for climate resilience	Teachers and caregivers support learning continuity through crisis-adapted tools, psychosocial support, and the use of flexible, low-tech solutions in disrupted environments.
Social and emotional learning (SEL) and mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS)	Emotional well-being is reinforced when teachers and caregivers actively model SEL, deliver support through digital platforms, and create safe spaces for expression and connection.

### 3.3. Digital literacy and protection

Digital literacy is central to all cross-cutting themes identified in this paper, functioning as a foundational competency for inclusive, equitable, and safe

learning across Southeast Asia. Rather than adopting one-size-fits-all models, Southeast Asian education systems could consider differentiating digital literacies for learners, teachers, and caregivers. Each group may require tailored support to build both tool-based knowledge and the softer skills needed to navigate digital cultures, networks, and risks. Country data from 'Gitanjali et al. (2024) reveal wide disparities, such as only 17% of respondents in the Philippines demonstrated competence in privacy protection, while over 70% of the elderly in Brunei showed low levels of information competence. In Cambodia, despite widespread mobile phone use, fewer than 30% of the population possess basic digital and media literacy skills, leaving communities vulnerable to online harms. These challenges are compounded by the persistent need to protect children and adults from the risks of mis/disinformation, scams, unauthorised data use, and emotional manipulation, especially among underprivileged and vulnerable groups (\*Gitanjali et al., 2024). Digital literacies, competencies, and skills also serve as the foundation for protection from these risks and any engagement with digital learning environments, education technologies, and modern information systems. Without these capabilities, learners and educators are unable to fully participate in or benefit from emerging educational innovations. For example, the skills required to search, find, and adapt OERs are crucial for teachers and school curriculum staff in creating instructional content that is relevant and contextually appropriate.

Ministries of Education are encouraged to investigate which digital and media literacies are most relevant to their national contexts and to embed these into curricula, teacher preparation, and community engagement strategies. This could include integrating foundational, generic, and higher-order competencies that support critical engagement, ethical participation, and digital resilience (UNESCO Institute for Statistics, 2018; UNESCO et al., 2024). Ministries could specifically seek guidance on these issues from the *Declaration on the Elimination of Bullying of Children in ASEAN* (†ASEAN Secretariat, 2021b) and events like the ICT Forum (†ASEAN Commission on the Promotion and Protection of the Rights of Women and Children, 2024), which both provide regional frameworks addressing these issues.

Moreover, learners may benefit from developing and including not only technical proficiency but also cognitive, communicative, critical, and civic capacities to participate meaningfully in digital environments. Digital literacy is not a single skill but a collection of context-specific, socially constructed practices that evolve alongside technological, cultural, and educational shifts (Belshaw, 2014). Table 10 outlines the potential

application of digital literacy and protection for each of the cross-cutting themes.

**Table 10.** Application of digital literacy and protection to cross-cutting themes in EdTech in Southeast Asia

Theme	Application for Digital Literacy
Gender equity	Equipping girls and women with the skills to navigate digital spaces safely and critically can help close gender gaps in access, voice, and participation, while also challenging online discrimination and exclusion.
Students with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)	The effective use of assistive technologies, accessible content formats, and adaptive platforms relies on digital competencies of teachers and caregivers that support inclusive engagement for diverse learners.
School-related violence and bullying	Skills related to online safety, digital rights, and respectful communication enable learners to identify, prevent, and respond to cyberbullying and harmful online behaviours. Curriculum content on the importance of consent, and preventing bullying and sexual abuse through phishing, grooming, sexting, and unwanted sharing of images, enables school leaders and teachers to address online, school-related, and gender-based violence in frank and meaningful ways.
Education in emergency settings and for climate resilience	Continued access to learning during crises depends on learners' and educators' ability to engage with mobile, offline, and remote tools, all of which require a baseline of digital fluency.
Social and emotional learning (SEL) and mental health and psychosocial Support (MHPSS)	Digital literacy equips both learners and educators with the skills to navigate online spaces safely, helping them recognise, prevent, and respond to harmful behaviours such as cyberbullying. It also empowers responsible technology use, fostering respectful communication and safeguarding privacy and well-being in digital environments.

# 3.4. Monitoring, evaluation, and evidence coordination

Monitoring, evaluation, and learning (MEL) systems are essential for generating evidence that supports more inclusive, effective, and scalable digital learning strategies. In the absence of strong MEL, it becomes difficult to assess whether interventions are improving outcomes for learners, particularly those most at risk of exclusion, such as OOSCY, learners at risk of dropping out, learners with disabilities, and students in remote areas. When MEL is embedded from the beginning, it enables education systems to identify what is working, course-correct in real time, and make better use of available resources.

Front-loading MEL into national strategies and school-level planning helps ensure that digital learning investments are aligned with meaningful goals. Rather than focusing only on reach or access, strong MEL systems, like the recently developed Primary Learning Program (PLP) in Cambodia (\*Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport (MoEYS), 2025), collect school-level data while highlighting impacts on learner engagement, digital safety, and teaching and learning quality. These insights make it easier to adapt interventions to diverse contexts and needs.

Coordinated evidence sharing across Southeast Asia adds further value. Efforts like the SEAMEO Strategic Workshops on Monitoring, Evaluation, Learning (MEL) and the SEAMEO Result Framework and MEL Strategy (\*SEAMEO Regional Centre for QITEP in Mathematics, 2024) offer support for regional policy and practice that promote cross-country comparison and dissemination of findings can foster mutual learning, reduce duplication, and accelerate collective progress. A stronger regional evidence base also supports more strategic decision-making on intervention effectiveness and cost, increasing the likelihood that EdTech solutions deliver long-term, equitable benefits. Table 11 outlines how monitoring, evaluation, and evidence coordination can benefit initiatives that address the cross-cutting themes.

**Table 11.** Application of monitoring, evaluation, and evidence coordination to cross-cutting themes in EdTech in Southeast Asia

Theme	Application for Flexible and Adaptable Modalities
Gender equity	Flexible modalities such as mobile-first tools and community-based hubs can be assessed for how well they reduce gender-related barriers and support sustained engagement by girls and young women.
Students with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND)	Evaluation should consider whether a range of formats, including audio, captioned video, and simplified interfaces, enable learners with different access needs to participate fully.
School-related violence and bullying	Monitoring the use of confidential reporting tools and peer-support platforms can provide insight into how safe and accessible these options are for students at risk of bullying or harassment.
Education in emergency settings and for climate resilience	Tracking the reach and effectiveness of low-tech and hybrid options like SMS, radio, and offline applications helps ensure that learning continues during disruptions or displacement.
Social and emotional learning (SEL) and mental health and psychosocial support (MHPSS)	Assessing how SEL and MHPSS content is delivered through various formats can show whether flexible modalities are meeting learners' emotional and psychological needs in diverse settings.

### References

This bibliography is available digitally in our evidence library at https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/XXXXX

- Adeniran, A., Adedeji, A., Nwosu, E., Nwugo, E., & Nnamani, G. (2023).

  Ed-Tech landscape and challenges in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Southern Voice*, *Occasional Paper No. 88*.

  https://southernvoice.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/12/SV\_Ops-N88-Pre.pdf. (details)
- Afzal, N., Barnes, K., Hayat, A., Mazari, H., Jayasinghe, N., & Sentillas, E. (2024). Out-of-School Children and Youth in Southeast Asia: A Rapid Scoping Study. https://elibrary.seameo.org/viewdetail/content/2596. (details)
- Afzal, N., Thang, S., Tulivuori, J., Thinley, S., & Mazari, H. (2024). *EdTech in Lao People's Democratic Republic: A Rapid Scan*. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1026. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/VRPF9WKG. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Akhtar, S., & Keeney, P. (2024). Perpetual emergency education: Urban refugee education in Thailand is disrupted during the COVID-19. *Policy Futures in Education*. https://doi.org/10.1177/14782103241283143. Available from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/14782103241283143. (details)
- Amihan, S. (2021). The Qa Vaccine For Resilience In The New Normal: SEL Teaching Practices + E-Services. *Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Social Science, Humanities, Education and Society Development, ICONS 2020, 30 November, Tegal, Indonesia.*Proceedings of the 1st International Conference on Social Science, Humanities, Education and Society Development, ICONS 2020, 30 November, Tegal, Indonesia, Tegal, Indonesia.

  https://doi.org/10.4108/eai.30-11-2020.2303746. Available from http://eudl.eu/doi/10.4108/eai.30-11-2020.2303746. (details)
- ASEAN Commission on the Promotion and Protection of the Rights of Women and Children. (2024, October 9). 2024 ASEAN ICT Forum. ASEAN ICT Forum. https://acwc.asean.org/press-release/2024-asean-ict-forum. (details)
- ASEAN Secretariat. (2016). ASEAN Declaration on Strengthening Education for Out-of-School Children and Youth (OOSCY). ASEAN Main Portal.

- https://asean.org/asean-declaration-on-strengthening-education-for-out-of-school-children-and-youthooscy/. (details)
- ASEAN Secretariat. (2019). Ending Violence Against Children in ASEAN Member States. https://www.unicef.org/eap/media/3656/file/EVAC.pdf. (details)
- ASEAN Secretariat. (2021a). ASEAN Common Framework for Comprehensive School Safety. ASEAN.

  https://plan-international.org/uploads/sites/57/2021/12/publication\_asea ncommonframework.pdf. (details)
- ASEAN Secretariat. (2021b). Declaration on the Elimination of Bullying of Children in ASEAN.

  https://asean.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/14.-Declaration-on-the-Elimination-of-Bullying-of-Children.pdf. (details)
- ASEAN Secretariat. (2022). Reopen, Recover and Resilience in Education:
  Guidelines for ASEAN Countries.
  https://www.unicef.org/eap/media/10766/file/%20Reopen,%20Recover
  %20and%20Resilience%20in%20Education:%20Guidelines%20for%20A
  SEAN%20Countries.pdf#:~:text=Effective%20programmes%20for%20c
  atch,with%20teachers%20trained. (details)
- ASEAN Secretariat. (2024). Regional Guidance for ASEAN Member States on Strengthening the Role of Social Workers and the Wider Social Service Workforce in the Education Sector. ASEAN Secretariat. https://asean.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/ASEAN\_Regional-Guidance-on-Social-Work-and-Wider-Social-Service-Workforce-in-Education-Sector-FNL.pdf#:~:text=underlying%20psychosocial%20factors%20to%20prevent,create%20a%20caring%20and%20safe. (details)
- Asia Education Review. (2024). Philippine Education Dept. Plans Boost for Mental Health with New Learning Model.

  https://www.asiaeducationreview.com/medical/news/philippine-education-dept-plans-boost-for-mental-health-with-new-learning-model-nwid-2025.html. (details)
- BIMP-EAGA. (2022). Steps and strategies for recovering learning losses in Southeast Asia.

  https://bimp-eaga.asia/article/steps-and-strategies-recovering-learnin g-losses-southeast-asia. (details)

- Barnes, K., & Katrin, L. (2025). EdTech for Contexts of Forced Displacement: A Rapid Evidence Review. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1085. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/KIEIX7NP. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Barnes, K., Emerusenge, A. P., Rabi, A., Ullah, N., Mazari, H., Moustafa, N., Thakrar, J., Zhao, A., & Koomar, S. (2024). Designing for social justice: A decolonial exploration of how to develop EdTech for refugees. *Education Sciences*, 14(1), 77. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci14010077. Available from https://www.mdpi.com/2227-7102/14/1/77. (details)
- Barnes, K., Mazari, H., Mitchell, J., Hayat, A., Zhao, A., Ullah, N., Emerusenge, A. P., D'Rozario, J., Hinks, J., & Thinley, S. (2024). *EdTech for Out-of-School Children and Youth: A Rapid Evidence Review for the Southeast Asian Region* [Rapid Evidence Review]. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1007. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/IIAMD77T. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Barnes, K., Ramesh Vasudevan, S., & Flam, R. (2025). *EdTech for Education in Emergencies: A Rapid Evidence Review*. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1084. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/BIUPGP3C. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Beadle, S., & YuJeong, H. (2024). *Asia-Pacific Learning Symposium: Global working group to end school-related gender-based violence*. UNESCO Bangkok. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000386941. (details)
- Bett Asia. (2025). *Bett Asia EdTech 10*. https://asia.bettshow.com/page/edtech-10-list. (details)
- Borowski, T. (2019). CASEL's framework for systemic social and emotional learning. Establishing Practical Social-Emotional Competence Assessment Work Group.

  https://measuringsel.casel.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/AWG-Framework-Series-B.2.pdf. (details)
- Brown, F. L., Lee, C., Servili, C., Willhoite, A., Van Ommeren, M., Hijazi, Z., Kieselbach, B., & Skeen, S. (2024). Psychological interventions for children with emotional and behavioral difficulties aged 5–12 years: An evidence review. *Cambridge Prisms: Global Mental Health*, 11, e75. https://doi.org/10.1017/gmh.2024.57. Available from

- https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/S2054425124000578/type/journal\_article. (details)
- Cashmore, A., & Crosta, N. (2022). *Technology and Disability: Trends and opportunities in the digital economy in ASEAN*. Economic Research Institute for ASEAN and East Asia (ERIA). https://www.eria.org/uploads/media/Research-Project-Report/RPR-202 2-14/Technology-and-Disability-Trends-and-Opportunities-in-the-Digit al-Economy-in-ASEAN.pdf. (details)
- Ching, G. S., Malabanan, J. C., & Canete, J. J. O. (2025). Adapting to online education: Social and emotional learning and teaching efficacy among Filipino teachers post-pandemic. *International Journal of Research Studies in Education*, 14(3). https://doi.org/10.5861/ijrse.2025.25801. Available from http://consortiacademia.org/10-5861-ijrse-2025-25801/. (details)
- Crompton, H., Burke, D., Jordan, K., & Wilson, S. W. G. (2021). Learning with technology during emergencies: A systematic review of K-12 education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *52*(4), 1554–1575. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13114. Available from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/bjet.13114. (details)
- Dabrowski, A., Ahmed, S. K., Goundar, P., Wong, D., & Spink, J. (2024). Supporting out-of-school girls and children and youth from marginalised groups in the ASEAN region: A review of promising practices. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://doi.org/10.37517/978-1-74286-737-3. Available from https://research.acer.edu.au/int\_research/22/. (details)
- Development Asia. (2024, May 31). Harnessing Edtech to Bridge Educational Gaps in Sri Lanka.

  https://development.asia/insight/harnessing-edtech-bridge-education al-gaps-sri-lanka. (details)
- Diwan, M. S. (2022). Asia-Pacific early childhood care and education: Teacher training handbook for social and emotional learning. UNESCO Bangkok. https://doi.org/10.54675/APXF5694. Available from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/notice?id=p%3A%3Ausmarcdef\_00003845 90&posInSet=12&queryId=N-d46e5fc7-0be5-41fc-894d-ddf9a7a6d1a5. (details)
- Education Cannot Wait. (2025). State of Education for Crisis-Affected Children and Adolescents: Access and learning outcomes [Global Estimates 2025 Update].

- https://www.educationcannotwait.org/resource-library/new-global-esti mates-study. (details)
- FCDO. (2022). Addressing the Climate, Environment, and Biodiversity Crises in and Through Girls' Education [Position Paper]. FCDO. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/addressing-the-climate-environment-and-biodiversity-crises-in-and-through-girls-education. (details)
- Gitanjali, B., Saputra, A. D., Candraningrum, D. A., Triwibowo, W., & Triastuti, E. (2024). One Divide or Many Divides? Understanding digital Literacy and the digital divide in ASEAN underprivileged communities. ASEAN Foundation. https://www.aseanfoundation.org/one\_divide\_or\_many\_divides\_under
  - https://www.aseanfoundation.org/one\_divide\_or\_many\_divides\_under privileged\_asean\_communities\_meaningful\_digital\_literacy\_and\_resp onse\_to\_disinformation. (details)
- Government of Australia. (2025, January 8). eSmart Schools Framework. https://www.schools.vic.gov.au/esmart-schools-framework. (details)
- Hardianto, A. (2024). Indonesia: From school violence and bullying to a culture of care. *Global Partnership for Education*. https://www.globalpartnership.org/blog/indonesia-school-violence-an d-bullying-culture-care. (details)
- Hennessy, S., Jordan, K., Wagner, D. A., & EdTech Hub Team. (2021). *Problem Analysis and Focus of EdTech Hub's Work: Technology in education in low- and middle-income countries* (Working Paper No. 7). EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4332693. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/PBXBB7LF. (details)
- Honda, D., Thinley, S., Thang, S., Flam, R., & Mazari, H. (2024). *EdTech in Timor-Leste: A Rapid Scan* [Country summaries and case studies]. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1025. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/HA956UKT. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Institute for Development Impact. (2025, January 2). *Building Climate-Resilient Schools*. https://i4di.org/climate-resilient-schools/. (details)
- Intaratat, K. (2021). Using open education and information and communications technology to promote functional literacy and mother tongue language use among ethnic girls and women in

- Northern Thailand. ASEAN Journal of Open and Distance Learning (AJODL), 13(2), 97–106. https://ajodl.oum.edu.my/. (details)
- Jayasinghe, N., Chrisani, A., Honda, D., & Gunawan, C. J. (2025). EdTech for Marginalised Learners in Southeast Asia: Perspectives from funders and providers on priorities, design, investment, and scaling considerations [Landscape Analysis]. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1117. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/SB7G3183. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Jeffrie, N. (2023). *The Mobile Gender Gap Report: 2023*. GSMA. https://www.gsma.com/r/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/The-Mobile-Gender-Gap-Report-2023.pdf. (details)
- Jolita, M. (2024). Transforming and modernizing the Technical Vocational Education and Training (TVET) system in Cambodia to digital and green. (details)
- Kagawa, F. (2022). *Towards Climate Resilient Education Systems*. UNICEF Regional Office for South Asia. https://www.unicef.org/rosa/media/18011/file/Towards%20Climate%20Resilient%20Education%20Systems.pdf. (details)
- Kim, S. (2024). Ending bullying and violence in school should be a top priority in Asia-Pacific. *UNESCO*. https://www.unesco.org/en/articles/ending-bullying-and-violence-school-should-be-top-priority-asia-pacific. (details)
- Lasater, M. E., Flemming, J., Bourey, C., Nemiro, A., & Meyer, S. R. (2022). School-based MHPSS interventions in humanitarian contexts: A realist review. *BMJ Open*, *12*(4), e054856. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-054856. Available from https://bmjopen.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-054856. (details)
- Lynch, P., Singal, N., & Francis, G. A. (2024). Educational technology for learners with disabilities in primary school settings in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic literature review. *Educational Review*, 76(2), 405–431. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2022.2035685. (details)
- Mai, M.-H., Giang, T.-V., Dang, X.-D., & Dinh, D.-H. (2023). The context of school-based cyberbullying prevention in Vietnamese public schools: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Education and E-Learning*

- Research, 10(4), 674–681. https://doi.org/10.20448/jeelr.v10i4.5046. Available from https://asianonlinejournals.com/index.php/JEELR/article/view/5046. (details)
- Mazari, H., Baloch, I., Thinley, S., Kaye, T., & Perry, F. (2022). Learning Continuity in Response to Climate Emergencies: Preliminary insights on supporting learning continuity following the 2022 Pakistan floods [Evidence review]. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.0134. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/IHTU7JRT. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport (MoEYS). (2025). Cambodia Basic Education Improvement Project (BEIP) P508313: Stakeholder Engagement Plan. World Bank. https://documents.worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/099080725083523481. (details)
- Mitchell, J., D'Rozario, J., Thinley, S., Mazari, H., & Hinks, J. (2025). EdTech for Girls' Education: A Rapid Evidence Review for the Southeast Asian Region [Report]. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1022. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/QEHJZIUB. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Mitchell, J., Thang, S., Zhao, A., Hinks, J., Rabi, A., Ullah, N., Zazai, R., Emerusenge, A. P., Barnes, K., D'Rozario, J., & Afzal, N. (2024). EdTech for Learners With Cognitive and Learning Disabilities: A Rapid Evidence Review for the Southeast Asian Region [Rapid Evidence Review]. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1023. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/HD58IXI3. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Mohd Fadhli, S. A., Liew Suet Yan, J., Ab Halim, A. S., Ab Razak, A., & Ab Rahman, A. (2022). Finding the link between cyberbullying and suicidal behaviour among adolescents in peninsular Malaysia. Healthcare, 10(5), 856. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare10050856. Available from https://www.mdpi.com/2227-9032/10/5/856. (details)
- Moon, J., & Park, Y. (2021). A scoping review on Open Educational Resources to support interactions of learners with disabilities. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 22(2), 314–341. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v22i1.5110. Available from

- https://www.erudit.org/en/journals/irrodl/2021-v22-n2-irrodl06128/1078 414ar/. (details)
- Muljono, M., Saraswati, G. W., Winarsih, N. A. S., Rokhman, N., Supriyanto, C., & Pujiono, P. (2019). Developing BacaBicara: An Indonesian lipreading system as an independent communication learning for the deaf and hard-of-hearing. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET)*, 14(04), 44–57. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v14i04.9578. Available from
  - https://online-journals.org/index.php/i-jet/article/view/9578. (details)
- Musayaroh, S., Asmiati, N., Utami, Y. T., Mulia, D., Sidik, S. A., Febri, R., Abadi, T. Y. P., Maslahah, S., & Pramudyo, A. S. (2023). A digital accessibility and inclusive design-based e-module in Higher Education: Does it work in a classroom with a deaf student? *ASEAN Journal of Community and Special Needs Education*.
  - https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Siti-Musayaroh/publication/37738 5584\_A\_Digital\_Accessibility\_and\_Inclusive\_Design-Based\_E-\_Module \_in\_Higher\_Education\_Does\_it\_Work\_in\_A\_Classroom\_with\_A\_Deaf\_S tudent\_ASEAN\_Journal\_of\_Community\_and\_Special\_Needs\_Educatio n/links/65a33cfa40ce1c5902daafcc/A-Digital-Accessibility-and-Inclusiv e-Design-Based-E-Module-in-Higher-Education-Does-it-Work-in-A-Cl assroom-with-A-Deaf-Student-ASEAN-Journal-of-Community-and-Sp ecial-Needs-Education.pdf. (details)
- Nguyen, A. T. (2023). Vietnam Quality Improvement of Primary Education for Deaf Children Project (QIPEDC): Implementation completion and results report.
  - https://policycommons.net/artifacts/3455411/implementation-completion-and-results-report-icr-document/4255738/. (details)
- Nguyen, H. H., Nguyen, M. K., & Nguyen, Q. K. (2024). A piloting study of developing social-emotional competence for Vietnamese high school students. *European Journal of Psychology and Educational Research*, 7(1), 45–53. https://doi.org/10.12973/ejper.7.1.45. Available from https://www.ejper.com/a-piloting-study-of-developing-social-emotion al-competence-for-vietnamese-high-school-students. (details)
- Nietschke, Y., Monty, A., Dabrowski, A., Goundar, P., Ahmed, S. K., Wong, D., & Spink, J. (2024). Strengthening Foundational Learning in the ASEAN Region: A review of promising practices. Australian Council for Educational Research. https://doi.org/10.37517/978-1-74286-740-3. Available from https://research.acer.edu.au/int\_research/23/. (details)

- Noboru, T., Amalia, E., Hernandez, P. M. R., Nurbaiti, L., Affarah, W. S., Nonaka, D., Takeuchi, R., Kadriyan, H., & Kobayashi, J. (2021). School-based education to prevent bullying in high schools in Indonesia. *Pediatrics International*, 63(4), 459–468. https://doi.org/10.1111/ped.14475. Available from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8251718/. (details)
- Othman, F., Wahab, M. Z. A., Jalil, M. A. S., & Hamid, M. S. A. (2023). Leave no one behind: The solution to an inclusive future. *Journal of Southeast Asian Education*, *1*. https://tsukuba.repo.nii.ac.jp/record/2013506/files/JSAE\_2023-59.pdf. (details)
- Ozdemir, N. K., & Kanzaki, M. (2025). Exploring SEL around the globe. In C. M. Park, L. Ferrari, A.-D. Scoda, N. K. Ozdemir, G. Marsay, & V. S. H. Solberg (Eds.), Social and emotional learning as foundation for future readiness: Translating research to practice (pp. 17–47). Springer Nature Switzerland. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-84591-8\_3. (details)
- Peguero, L. P. (2024). Language learning for refugees and immigrants: Innovative approaches. *International Journal of Enhanced Research in Educational Development*, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.55948/IJERED.2024.0324. (details)
- Phal, C., Chankoulika, B., & Ryuto, M. (2022). Cambodian Secondary School Teachers' Readiness for Online Teaching During the Covid-19 Pandemic. Cambodia Development Resource Institute. https://cdri.org.kh/publication/cambodian-secondary-school-teachers-readiness-for-online-teaching-during-the-covid-19-pandemic. (details)
- Plan International. (2024). Climate Change Education for a More Sustainable, Just and Gender Equal World. Plan International. https://plan-international.org/publications/climate-change-education-capacity-statement/. (details)
- Polprasert, C., & Anutariya, C. (2024). Digitalizing Education for Sustainable Development. *Tech Monitor*. https://apctt.org/sites/default/files/attachment/2024-08/05\_Digitalizing \_Education\_for\_Sustainable\_Development.pdf. (details)
- Prabaningtyas, R. A. R. F., Pudjiastuti, T. N., Alami, A. N., Farhana, F., & Arfan. (2023). Access to Education for Refugee Children in Indonesia During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Challenges and Adaptation Strategies.

- ASEAS Advances in Southeast Asian Studies, 16(1), 39–61. https://doi.org/10.14764/10.ASEAS-0089. (details)
- Raftree, L. (2023). Designing Safe Digital Mental Health and Psychosocial Support MHPSS for Displaced and Stateless Adolescents. United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). https://www.unhcr.org/innovation/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Desig ning-Safe-Digital-Mental-Health-and-Psychosocial-Support-MHPSS.p df#:~:text=Digital%20technologies%20have%20the%20potential,aroun d%20people%E2%80%99s%20schedules%2C%20and%20their. (details)
- Rahamathulla, M. (2021). Cyber safety of children in the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) Region: A critical review of legal frameworks and policy implications. *International Journal on Child Maltreatment: Research, Policy and Practice*, 4(4), 375–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42448-021-00087-5. (details)
- Raisha, C., Pangalangan, M., & Thant, K. Y. Y. (n.d.). *Advancing gender equality in education: Breaking barriers for girls in Southeast Asia*. Retrieved April 28, 2025, from https://www.seameo.org/category/6/476. (details)
- Rueangdej, C., & Nomnian, S. (2021). Stakeholders' insights into migrant students' experiences in a Thai public school: A linguistic ecological perspective. *Advances in Southeast Asian Studies (ASEAS)*, 14(2), 243–266. https://doi.org/10.14764/10.ASEAS-0057. Available from https://aseas.univie.ac.at/index.php/aseas/article/view/6264. (details)
- SEAMEO Regional Centre for QITEP in Mathematics. (2024, July 26). The 3rd SEAMEO strategic workshop on monitoring, evaluation, learning: Advancing educational integration and policy development. https://www.qitepinmath.org/en/our-news/the-3rd-seameo-strategic-workshop-on-monitoring-evaluation-learning-advancing-educational-integration-and-policy-development/. (details)
- Shamrova, D., Lee, J. M., & Choi, S. (2025). School bullying victimization and child subjective well-being in east Asian countries and territories: Role of children's participation in decision-making in schools and community. *Children & Society*, 39(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/chso.12888. Available from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/chso.12888. (details)
- Sittichai, R., & Smith, P. K. (2015). Bullying in South-East Asian countries: A review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 23, 22–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2015.06.002. Available from

- https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S135917891500083X. (details)
- Southeast Asian Ministers of Education Organization. (2022, January 19).

  History of SEAMEO Members.

  https://www.seameo.org/img/SEAMEO\_General/About\_SEAMEO/History\_HTML/seameomc/mcindex.htm. (details)
- The Sasakawa Peace Foundation, & Dalberg Global Development Advisors. (2017). Advancing Women's Empowerment: ICT skills for girls and women in Southeast Asia. The Sasakawa Peace Foundation. https://dalberg.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/ICT-Skills-for-Girls-in-Southeast-Asia.pdf. (details)
- Thinley, S., Hayat, A., Thang, S., & Mazari, H. (2024). *EdTech in Cambodia: A Rapid Scan*. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1020. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/Z7XKA7E8. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- Timur, F. B. (2022). Asean and gendered violence in cyberspace. In *Gender and security in digital space*. Routledge. (details)
- UN Women. (2023). Teachers at the Centre: The role and needs of Asia-Pacific teachers in addressing violence and school-related gender-based violence.

  https://asiapacific.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2023-08/ap-Role-an d-Needs-of-Asia-Pacific-Teachers.pdf. (details)
- UNESCO, & Southeast Asian Ministers of Education Organization. (2023).

  Global Education Monitoring Report 2023, Southeast Asia:
  Technology in education: A tool on whose
  Terms?https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000387824. (details)
- UNESCO. (2019). Behind the numbers: Ending school violence and bullying. UNESCO. https://doi.org/10.54675/TRVR4270. Available from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000366483. (details)
- UNESCO. (2019). Gender in Education Network in Asia-Pacific (GENIA)

  Toolkit: Promoting gender equality in education. UNESCO Bangkok.

  https://www.ungei.org/sites/default/files/GENIA-Toolkit-Promoting-Gender-Equality-Education-2019-eng.pdf. (details)
- UNESCO. (2023). "Feeling good: Mental health and psychosocial support for ALS learners during COVID-19 pandemic." https://www.unesco.org/en/articles/feeling-good-mental-h

- ealth-and-psychosocial-support-als-learners-during-covid-19-pande mic. (details)
- UNESCO. (2023). 2023 Global Education Monitoring Report. https://gem-report-2023.unesco.org/. (details)
- UNESCO. (2024). Safe to Learn and Thrive: Ending Violence in and Through Education. UNESCO. Available from https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000391797?posInSet=1&queryId=4aed2f66-c90b-4855-8a6d-da970cfc70ca. (details)
- UNESCO. (2025). Safe learning environments: Preventing and addressing violence in and around school.

  https://www.unesco.org/en/health-education/safe-learning-environments. (details)
- UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Regional Office. (2023). *Girls' Digital Literacy in the East Asia and Pacific Region*. UNICEF EAPRO. https://www.unicef.org/eap/reports/girls-digital-literacy-east-asia-and-pacific-region. (details)
- UNICEF East Asia and Pacific Regional Office. (2024). Teachers' Digital Literacy in the East Asia and Pacific Region Spotlight on Cambodia, China, Lao PDR, Solomon Islands and Vanuatu. UNICEF EAPRO. https://www.unicef.org/eap/media/16211/file/Final%20Teachers%20Digital%20Literacy%20NEW.pdf.pdf. (details)
- UNICEF. (2022). The Role of Remote Modalities in Implementing Mental Health and Psychosocial Support Programs and Services in the Education Sector.
  - https://wcmsprod.unicef.org/media/127566/file/The%20role%20of%20remote%20modalities%20in%20implementing%20mental%20health%20and%20psychosocial%20support%20programs%20and%20services%20in%20the%20education%20sector.pdf. (details)
- UNICEF. (2023). Child Protection in Digital Education Technical Note. https://www.unicef.org/media/134131/file/Child%20Protection%20in%20 Digital%20Education%20Technical%20Note.pdf. (details)
- UNICEF, & UNESCO. (2021). Regional Situation Analysis of the Impacts of COVID-19 on Education.
  - https://www.unicef.cn/media/21231/file/Regional%20Situation%20Analysis%20of%20the%20Impacts%20of%20COVID-19%20on%20Education.pdf#:~:text=In%20Southeast%20Asia%2C%20surveys%20conducted,198%20Positive%20responses. (details)

- United Nations Children's Fund. (2021). The State of the World's Children 2021: On My Mind Promoting, protecting and caring for children's mental health. UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/media/114636/file/SOWC-2021-full-report-English.pdf. (details)
- United Nations Timor-Leste, & Belun. (2018). Leaving No Youth Behind in Timor-Leste: Young People with a Disability [Policy Brief]. https://timor-leste.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/05\_DISABILTY\_ENG\_PRINT%20%281%29.pdf. (details)
- Unwin, T., Harindranath, G. H., & Ghimire, A. (2021). *Migrants and Digital Technologies for Learning and Education: Recommendations for Governments*. UNESCO Chair in ICT4D. https://ict4d.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/ict4d-briefs-1.2-1-1.pdf . (details)
- W3C. (2025). Web Content Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 2.1. https://www.w3.org/TR/WCAG21/. (details)
- World Bank. (2025). School enrollment, gender parity index. World Bank Gender Data Portal. https://genderdata.worldbank.org/en/indicator/se-enr. (details)
- Yap, K. H., Koh, A., Kumar, A., Lahpai, M., Cheng, K. H., Ravindaran, T., Vasu, P., & Verghis, S. (2022). Protocol for a feasibility evaluation of a Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) programme to improve resilience and academic achievement in refugee children from a community learning centre in Malaysia: PARSEL (Participatory Action Research on SEL). *PLOS ONE*, *17*(8), e0273239. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0273239. Available from https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0273239. (details)
- Zhao, A., Hinks, J., Thang, S., Mitchell, J., Rabi, A., Ullah, N., Zazai, R., Emerusenge, A. P., Barnes, K., & D'Rozario, J. (2024). *EdTech for Learners With Hearing and Visual Impairments: A Rapid Evidence Review for the Southeast Asian Region* [Rapid Evidence Review]. EdTech Hub. https://doi.org/10.53832/edtechhub.1028. Available from https://docs.edtechhub.org/lib/M6A4ZHJ3. Available under Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International. (details)
- van Tiel, J. (2020). Cyberbullying, an Overlooked and Ever Growing Danger to the Development of Children. Kids Rights. (details)